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The year in summary.
• Brighter signs 5-year distribution agreement for 

Actiste® and Actiste® Mini in Qatar

• Brighter signs a reseller agreement with Medico, 
the leading provider of cloud-based health-
care-management systems in Indonesia

• Brighter enters a Proof-of-Concept collaboration 
with Chronos Care (Chronos Labs AB) to verify 
Brighter’s Actiste® service and evaluate the 
potential for future commercial collaboration in 
Sweden

• Brighter enters into a commercial collaboration 
agreement with VivBon AB in Sweden for the 
Actiste® portfolio

• Brighter initiates partnerships and discussions 
with important stakeholders in the United Arab 
Emirates

• Brighter signs a collaboration agreement for 
Actiste® Mini with Padjadjaran University in 
Indonesia

• Brighter is notified that its distributors in Nigeria 
and Ghana wish to renegotiate the distribution 
agreements – estimated revenues will either be 
substantially reduced or not materialize

• Actiste® and Actiste® Mini receive several different 
market approvals around the world

• Brighter and Nectarine Health™ receive patents in 
Brazil and USA

• Brighter receives clarification from the United 
Arab Emirates Ministry of Health and Prevention 
regarding data storage and processing for the 
Actiste® Diabetes Management Solution

• Compatibility with new insulins opens up new 
market opportunities for Brighter’s Actiste®

• Brighter’s subsidiary Nectarine Health™ at Home 
is registered with the FDA

• Brighter’s subsidiary Nectarine Health™ signs an 
agreement with CK-Caregivers and continues 
expanding trials in the US

• Brighter’s subsidiary Nectarine Health™ signs an 
agreement with Peace of Mind Aging to expand 
trials in the US

• Brighter’s subsidiary Nectarine Health™ gains 
proof of concept from its US end-user trial for 
Medicare reimbursement

• Brighter’s subsidiary Nectarine Health™ enters 
into an agreement and expands its user trials 
with Solutionology Health payments to its end-
user trial

• Brighter’s former subsidiary Camanio (divested 
in December 2021) launches an innovative pilot 
project with Tomelilla Municipality and wins 
allocation decisions for stationary security 
alarms with several municipalities in Sweden

• Actiste® receives positive ratings in user-experi-
ence research at two health centers in Sweden

• Erik Lissner is appointed interim Chief Executive 
Officer while Christer Trägårdh, former interim 
CEO, is elected as Chairman of the Board

• Emilie Erhard Winiarski resigns as a Brighter 
Board member

• Karin O’Connor and Clas Lindbergson are 
elected as new Board members 

• Christopher Robinson is appointed interim Chief 
Financial Officer

• The previous CEO Henrik Norström and the 
previous chairman Truls Sjöstedt do not receive 
discharge of liability for their administration in 
the fiscal year 2020. All other members of the 
Board receive discharge of liability

• Brighter holds an EGM to change the limits of the 
share capital in the Articles of Association

• Brighter terminates its financing arrangement 
with Unwrap Finance Nordic AB 

• Brighter commences legal action against Unwrap 
Finance Nordic AB

• Brighter carried out a unit issue which was 
subscribed to 121percent a contributed SEK 142 
million to the Company

• Brighter carries out a private placement of 
39.7 MSEK

• Brighter sells its wholly owned subsidiary 
Camanio AB for SEK 65 million

• Brighter sells its holdings in Blodtrycksdoktorn AB 
for SEK 5 million
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CEO comment.

Firstly I would like to thank each and every one of our shareholders for your support 
during 2021, and secondly I hope that you are as excited as I am about the future. 
What has become even clearer now as I have visited some of our target markets, is that 
our solutions clearly meet the global trends in digital healthcare. My meetings with key 
stakeholders in the public and private healthcare sector confirm the need to find new 
innovative digital solutions to initiate behavior change in both diabetic patients and 
caregivers. And what is even more promising is the positive interest in our solutions. This 
strengthens my belief that 2022 is the year when Brighter breaks through the market 
with Actiste® Diabetes Management as a Service.

Early in the year, Brighter’s Board 
of Directors and leadership team 
agreed to sharpen the compa-
ny’s geographical focus for the 
initial commercialization of Actiste® 
Diabetes Management as a Service. 
We decided to put a united effort 
behind bringing the solution to 
market in Qatar. A country where 
– according to the International 
Diabetes Federation – diabetes 
prevalence among adults is at least 
17 percent, which is almost double 
the global average. Another strong 
reason for choosing Qatar was the 
5-year distribution agreement signed 
with Al Danah Medical Company, 
one of the leading distributors of 
medical and biomedical equipment, 
pharmaceuticals, OTC products, 
disposable medical products and 
dermo-cosmetic products in Qatar. In 
Q1 2022 we succeeded in bringing 
the Actiste® Diabetes Management 
as a Service to market in the area 
and we are now committed to build-
ing “Centers of Excellence” where 
doctors, hospitals and care facilities 
will use and prescribe our solution 
to patients with the aim to create a 
more efficient care.

Reaching milestones.
During the year, we achieved several 
important commercial milestones 
for Actiste® Diabetes Management 
as a Service, carrying Brighter 
forward also in other key markets. 

Among those were several different 
market approvals around the world, 
new market opportunities opened 
up for the company as Actiste® 
was evaluated and proved to be 
compatible with insulin cartridges 
from BIOTON S.A and Brighter and 
Nectarine Health™ received patents in 
Brazil and USA. 

I have also met with most of our 
partners in the United Arab Emirates 
and together with our sales team 
started discussions with new 
important stakeholders in the area. 
We were very happy to receive a 
positive assessment from the Ministry 
of Health and Prevention (MOHAP) 
regarding data storage and process-
ing in the Actiste® and we are now, 
through new connections and efforts 
hoping to soon receive the necessary 
outstanding regulatory approvals we 
need to be able to proceed with the 
commercialization plans in the area. 
A step toward, is the Memorandum 
of Understanding we signed with 
Emirates Health Services in Q1 2022 
with the intention to jointly roll out an 
Actiste® user experience study. 

Agreements and 
collaborations in Indonesia.
I believe Indonesia is a great market 
match when it comes to digital 
healthcare solutions. Indonesia, with 
its 252 million people, is severely 
affected by diabetes and the 

problem is growing from year 
to year. But at the same time we 
see a technological development 
where older systems do not slow 
down innovation, and where there 
is great interest in applying smart 
digital solutions for healthcare. I am 
equally excited about the reseller 
agreement we signed with Medico, 
the leading provider of cloud-based 
healthcare-management systems in 
the country as I am about the collab-
oration with Padjadjaran University, 
hospitals and local authorities. All of 
this together has led up to the start 
of a user study in West Java in the 
first part of 2022.

Positive outcome of 
user tests.
At the end of the year I was very 
happy to announce the positive 
feedback from a user-experience 
in Sweden with Actiste® Diabetes 
Management as a Service. In 
Sweden, we also entered into a 
commercial collaboration agreement 
with VivBon and a Proof-of-Concept 
collaboration with Chronos Care 
(Chronos Labs AB) to verify Brighter’s 
Actiste® service.

 Progress for Nectarine 
Health™ in the US.
Brighter’s Subsidiary Nectarine 
Health entered into several agree-
ments and expanded its user trials 

Finansiell översikt.
KSEK Okt–dec 

2020
Okt–dec 

2019
Jan–dec 

2020
Jan–dec 

2019
Jan–dec 

2018
Jan–dec 

2017
Nettoomsättning 5 977 2 398 12 286 2 398 0 0

Rörelseresultat –101 604 –35 029 –226 990 –79 810 –48 605 –24 395

Finansnetto –10 991 502 –13 575 -9 875 –4 475 –2 897

Resultat före skatt –112 595 –34 527 –240 565 –89 685 –53 080 –27 292

Balansomslutning 342 880 255 664 342 880 255 664 170 616 111 354

Eget kapital per aktie 1,16 1,49 1,25 1,67 2,19 1,54

Soliditet 75% 81% 75% 81% 63% 78%

Financial overview.
TSEK  2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

Net turnover 1 266 1 665 2 398 0 0

Operating profit/loss –185 480 –207 034 –79 809 –48 605 –24 395

Net financial items –24 400 –13 473 –9 875 –4 475 –2 897

Profit/loss before tax –209 880 –220 507 –89 685 –53 080 –27 292

Balance sheet total 268 745 338 917 255 664 170 616 111 354

Shareholders’ equity per share 0,59 1,23 1,67 2,19 1,54

Equity ratio 77% 74% 81% 63% 78%
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in the US. The end-user trial resulted 
in a proof of concept for medical 
reimbursement, and the company 
has conducted its first commercial 
transaction with a subscription 
payment method.

Increased attention to 
cost management and 
significant capital boost.
Another of our major focus areas 
during 2021 was to implement the 
Board of Directors’ updated strategic 
direction in terms of increased 
attention to cost management, and 
a disciplined culture of governance 
and control. The Board also decided 
to streamline our operations to fully 
focus on Brighter’s core business in 
data-driven and connected diabetes 
care. As a result, during 2021 we 
divested all our holdings in Camanio 
and Accumbo, and we continued to 
explore alternative ways to finance 
Nectarine Health.

All of the above will lead to a more 
agile company with a stronger 
position. However, it will also reduce 
our overall capital requirements and 
establish a more robust position 
that allows us to put the required 
resources behind the continuous 
commercialization of Actiste® 
Diabetes Management as a Service 
in key markets. Our capital base 
received a significant boost in the 
beginning of 2021 from a unit issue 
which was subscribed to 121 percent 
and contributed MSEK 142 to the 
company. I’m also very pleased with 
the outcome of the rights issue that 
we executed in January 2022. The 
issue was subscribed to 85.4 percent 
and brought the company MSEK 100 
before issue costs. We also have the 
TO7 and TO8 warrants that, with 
continued support, can bring in up 
to MSEK 126,7 in June 2022 and up 
to MSEK 75 in June 2023 to further 
support the company’s establishment 
on the global market.

Increased focus to invest 
in digital healthcare.
The challenges of the Covid-19 
pandemic continued during 2021, 
however the acceleration of a 
more digital healthcare sector has 
also opened new opportunities for 
companies like Brighter. At the same 
time diabetes is a rapidly growing 
problem around the world, expected 
to increase from 537 million people 
to 783 million people from 2020 
to 2045. Besides the suffering for 
those living with diabetes, it also 
causes enormous costs for society 
– estimated to reach 815 billion 
USD in 2045. Throughout the year 
we met healthcare providers and 
stakeholders in different parts of the 
world who all echoed the same sen-

timent: a willingness to invest more 
in digital-healthcare and connected 
solutions that bring data insights.

 Brighter entered 2022 with a solid 
strategy, a clear focus, and the 
financial resources we need to 
achieve our goal of commercializing 
Actiste® Diabetes Management as 
a Service in Qatar and beyond. 
With long sales cycles and 
market approval processes we 
cannot influence, we are humble and 
grateful towards our shareholders 
for the ongoing support as we aim to 
realize the potential of this solution 
to transform data-driven healthcare. 

I look forward to an exciting 2022 
and to drive the company forward 
with all the excellent employees at 
Brighter.

Erik Lissner 
Interim CEO of Brighter AB

About Brighter.

Brighter operates in the med-tech industry and works to meet a number of serious 
challenges driven by global changes in society, as described below. These challenges 
are largely based on demographic and social shifts in the population, combined with 
limited resources in society and increasing costs in healthcare. This all gives rise to an 
extensive need for increased efficiency and new innovative solutions that meet needs 
in both the short and long term. The Company is purpose-driven and must therefore 
ensure that all its solutions contribute towards increased quality of life for the end user, 
and to a better society. The main part of our business is focused on creating solutions 
for connected and data-driven diabetes care, as well as digital care and support in the 
home. The Company believes that our solutions can create new opportunities and value 
for a broad group of stakeholders: patients and their relatives, healthcare providers, 
authorities and governments, insurance companies and employers, the pharmaceutical 
industry, clinical-research organizations, and academic organizations.

Proactive and data-
driven healthcare.
Brighter strives to become a leading 
player in mobile health and data-
driven healthcare. Above all, the 
Company’s products must contribute 
to a clearer picture of the individual’s 
health. By handling data from 
various medical technology tools and 
applications, the Company aims to 
deliver reliable and vital data to the 
user in a smart and easy-to-handle 
way – data that the individual 
can then choose to share. Actiste® 
Diabetes Management as a Service 
provides an opportunity to connect 
the user with care through a cloud-
based service. This can boost the 
individual’s motivation and quality 
of life, while care services receive the 
information needed for optimizing 
treatment and counseling.

Digital care and 
support at home.
Through acquisitions in 2020, 
Brighter expanded into the ‘age-tech’ 
and care sector, with a focus on 
innovative technology and services 
for care and support in the home. 

Brighter’s subsidiary, Nectarine 
Health, has developed an AI-based 
monitoring solution that enables 
people to stay in their homes and 
live a full and safe life for longer. The 
original product, which is currently 
used in nursing homes around Swe-
den, was developed for professional 
use. It aims to detect fall accidents 
and alert caregivers in nursing 
homes so that response times and 
the quality of care can be improved. 
The second-generation of the 
solution, which primarily focuses on 
the consumer market, was launched 
in the United States during 2021. 
During the year the company has 
started a number of user trials and 
also gained proof of concept from 
its US end-user trial for Medicare 
reimbursement and completed its 
first commercial transaction by 
introducing subscription payments 
to its end-user trial.

IP and licensing.
Since its inception, Brighter has had 
a significant focus on building a 
strong IP portfolio in digital and con-
nected care. Our patent families are 
related to 1) A combination of func-

tions (measurement and injection) in 
one and the same device; 2) Actual 
injected dose of medication into 
the body; 3) Mobile management of 
connected medical aids; 4) AI-driven 
management of connected medical 
aids; and 5) Microneedle technology. 
The Company considers our IP 
portfolio and the commercial 
licensing opportunities it creates as 
an active business area of its own 
with significant potential.

The Company’s 
positioning.
By introducing new methods, 
services and products that add 
value, Brighter strives to be a 
leading Company in the emergence 
of mobile health and data-driven 
healthcare. Brighter’s ambition is 
to drive development towards more 
efficient and sustainable healthcare 
by tackling the sector’s biggest 
challenges: rising costs and limited 
resources, and the need to change 
patient behavior. Based on innova-
tion and technology, the Company 
focuses on improving quality of life 
for people and optimizing the use 
of available healthcare resources. 
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Brighter’s solutions enable a wide 
range of value-creating opportunities 
for a number of stakeholders, and 
challenge traditional approaches 
and boundaries in order to meet the 
problems that exist.

Building a strong 
employer brand.
We strongly believe that employer 
brands are built from both inside and 
out. We see our company culture as 
our most sustainable competitive 
advantage. 

We are building our strong employer 
brand by focusing on personal lead-
ership – the number one principle at 
Brighter is how you lead yourself. By 

this we mean how we together lead 
ourselves in our common context 
aligned with our values: Smart, 
Friendly and Reliable. 

Taking responsibility and assuming 
accountability for our behaviors and 
actions is what shapes our winning 
company culture. Culture is not in 
the four walls behind which we work 
– it is in us and our behaviors. 

Being a Brighterian 
means that:
• I make active choices and by that 

I take personal responsibility and 
ownership for the consequences of 
my choices

• I lead myself as a role model for 
my colleagues with an open mind 
and willingness to grow

Revenue models.

Sales of products 
and services.
In the near future, the largest share 
of the Company’s revenues are 
expected to be generated through 
sales of the Group’s services and 
products. The diabetes service 
Actiste® is sold as a subscription 
model where the pricing strategy 
is organic and based on the local 
willingness to pay. The purpose of 
this type of pricing strategy is to 
increase awareness and maximize 
the number of users.

The Company considers Actiste®, 
with its Benefit Loop, as a solution 
where the value of the data and the 
insights that can be generated by 
many users have the potential to 
form their own business area that 
can compensate for a lower price, 
which means that the service can 
be priced competitively in certain 

markets with lower purchasing power. 
The Nectarine service launched in 
the US in 2021 will also be sold as a 
subscription service.

Health and treatment 
data.
In the long term, Brighter also intends 
to provide both the key to and be the 
market platform for user-generated 
health data. The databases that, 
with the permission of the users, are 
generated over time in Brighter’s 
platforms may be used in long-term 
community planning, national health 
initiatives, research projects, clinical 
studies and in the development of 
medicines. The ambition is to offer 
the Company’s data banks and 
insights to community bodies and the 
pharmaceutical industry for a fee, in 
order to further improve the quality of 
life for people with diabetes.

Licensing of IP.
Since 2007, the Company has 
applied for and received a large 
number of patents and design 
protection for, among other things, 
integration of sampling, measure-
ment of biomarkers and injection of 
liquid medication in a single device, 
and Artificial Intelligence-supported 
monitoring functionality for medical 
equipment. An early focus on patents 
forms the basis for the Company’s 
broad patent portfolio. The Company 
has a number of patent portfolios, 
with both approved and pending pat-
ent applications. Approved patents 
are available worldwide, including in 
Europe, the United States, India, Indo-
nesia, Brazil, Japan, South Korea, 
China and Mexico. The Company 
is investigating the possibility of 
licensing parts of its IP portfolio to 
external players.

Market overview.

1.  United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs, The World Population Prospects 2019: Highlights, 2019.  
https://population.un.org/wpp/Publications/Files/WPP2019_Highlights.pdf

2. https://www.oecd.org/countries/
3. OECD (2019), Health at a Glance 2019: OECD Indicators, OECD Publishing, Paris, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1787/4dd50c09-en
4.  Forbes, Aging Populations Will Challenge Healthcare Systems All Over The World, april 2018.  

https://www.forbes.com/sites/williamhaseltine/2018/04/02/aging-populations-will-challenge-healthcare-systems-all-over-the-world/
5.  Dieleman JL, Squires E, Bui AL, et al. Factors Associated With Increases in US Health Care Spending, 1996-2013.  

JAMA. 2017;318(17):1668–1678. doi:10.1001/jama.2017.15927, 2017.  
https://www.researchgate.net/publication/320915030_Factors_Associated_With_Increases_in_US_Health_Care_Spending_1996–2013

6.  Deloitte Centre for Health Solutions, Digital transformation Shaping the future of European healthcare, september 2020.  
https://www2.deloitte.com/content/dam/Deloitte/uk/Documents/life-sciences-health-care/deloitte-uk-shaping-the-future-of-european-healthcare.pdf

Brighter operates in the med-tech 
and welfare sectors, and focuses on 
a number of widespread challenges 
driven by global changes in society, 
as described below. The challenges 
are largely based on demographic 
and social shifts in the population, 
combined with limited resources in 
society and rising healthcare costs. 
This gives rise to a great need for 
increased efficiency and innovative 
solutions that can address the situa-
tion in both the short and long term. 
The Company is purpose-driven and 
focuses on solutions that contribute 
to an increased quality of life for the 
end user. The majority of the business 
today is focused on solutions for 
connected and data-driven diabetes 
care, as well as digital care and 
support in the home. The Company 
believes that its solutions in the 
future can create new opportunities 
and value for a broad group of 
stakeholders  besides patients, such 
as relatives, healthcare providers, 
authorities and governments, 
insurance companies and employers, 
the pharmaceutical industry, 
clinical research organizations, and 
academic bodies.

A growing aging 
population.
The world’s population continues 
to grow, albeit at a slower pace 
than before. The UN estimates that 
the growth rate is about 80 million 
people per year, and that the world’s 
population will increase by about 

two billion people during the next 
30 years. At the same time, rapidly 
increasing life expectancy is leading 
to an extensive demographic shift, 
with the proportion of older people 
(65+ years) being the fastest growing 
age group. In 2050, one in six people 
in the world is estimated to be over 
65 (16 percent), compared with one 
in eleven in 2019 (9 percent). Regions 
where the proportion of the popu-
lation aged 65 or older is estimated 
to double between 2019 and 2050 
include North Africa, Asia and Latin 
America and the Caribbean. The 
UN also estimates that one in four 
people living in Europe and North 
America will be 65 or older by 2050. 
In 2018, the number of people aged 
65 or older exceeded the number of 
children under five globally for the 
first time in history. The number of 
people aged 80 or older is estimated 
to triple, from 143 million in 2019 
to 426 million in 2050.1 This demo-
graphic shift means that a declining 
proportion of the population needs to 
support an increasing proportion of 
the population that generally has a 
greater need for support and care.

Increased pressure 
on care and societal 
functions.
The financial sustainability 
of healthcare is becoming an 
increasing concern around the world, 
as care is largely financed through 
public funds in most countries. In 

OECD countries2, healthcare costs 
have exceeded economic growth for 
most of the last 50 years, and these 
costs are expected to continue to 
exceed GDP growth over the next 15 
years, according to the OECD report 
“Health at a glance 2019”.3 The 
trend towards growing healthcare 
costs is global, and is partly due to 
the demographic shift whereby an 
increasing share of the population 
live longer and need more care. 
It’s also due to the fact that the 
prevalence of chronic diseases such 
as diabetes is increasing sharply in 
society.4, 5 These parameters increase 
both the economic and the opera-
tional burden on societal functions 
in health and care. Population aging 
can also impact the labor market 
and economic development overall, 
as well as the fiscal pressures that 
many countries will face in the 
coming decades as they continue 
to build and maintain public health, 
pension and social-welfare systems.

Digitization and data 
in healthcare.
One of the biggest challenges 
facing healthcare organizations 
and decision-makers worldwide is to 
improve the quality of and access to 
care while the population is aging 
and growing, life expectancy is 
increasing, and public spending on 
care is under pressure.6 To meet the 
challenges without sacrificing on the 
quality of care, modern technology 
and digital development will play a 
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key role in the future. The Company 
believes that the dynamics described 
above have created a universal need 
for a comprehensive transformation, 
whereby digital services, new 
innovations, new business models 
and changed working methods can 
add new value and efficiency. The 
value can arise on different fronts; 
by preventing cases of illness, raising 
medical quality, and increasing 
access to care while improving the 
working environment for care and 
nursing staff. With access to new 
digital tools, individuals can get 
involved in and take care of their 
health, which can result in better 
quality of life and less strain on the 
system over time. The systematic 
use of digital technology in care can 
mean that more focus be placed on 
preventive measures, and more of 
the care can be provided remotely to 
the home. The burden on hospitals 
and health centers can be eased, 
while new channels for contact 
with care – for example via video 
or messages through connected 
devices – can mean that the overall 
availability of care increases. With 
improved access to relevant patient 
information and treatment data for 
different care providers, it can be 
possible to streamline care processes 
and to avoid incorrect treatments. 
Digital solutions can also create the 
conditions for significant medical 
advances when analysis tools and 
high-quality data – which can help 
counselors to make diagnoses and 
to tailor-make care programs – are 
put to use. All in all, there is much 
to suggest that digital services 
and connected devices can make 
it possible to achieve sustainable 
cost reductions while maintaining or 
improving the quality of care.

 7.  Stockholms universitet, Coronakrisen blottar brister i äldreomsorgen, maj, 2020.  
https://www.su.se/forskning/coronakrisen-blottar-brister-i-percentC3percentA4ldreomsorgen-1.497600

 8.  Coronapandemin har gjort att digitaliseringen i den svenska sjukvården har tagit rejäl fart, september, 2020.  
https://it-halsa.se/ny-rapport-digitala-losningar-i-sjukvarden-har-okat-dramatiskt/

 9.  United Nations Development Programme, Globala målen för hållbar utveckling i samhället, september, 2019.  
https://www.globalamalen.se/om-globala-malen/mal-3-halsa-och-valbefinnande/

10. International Diabetes Federation, December 2020. https://idf.org/aboutdiabetes/what-is-diabetes/facts-figures.html

Accelerated digital 
development in 
healthcare.
The pandemic, which spread rapidly 
during 2020, increased the burden 
on healthcare systems worldwide 
to near breaking point. At the same 
time, the crisis has exposed existing 
problems around a lack of resources 
and preparedness,7 and has also 
brought new opportunities. It has 
accelerated digital transformation 
in the health and care sectors. 
There is now a greater willingness 
to innovate among decision-makers 
and an increased focus on the value 
of digital and connected devices, 
artificial intelligence and digital ser-
vices. The effect of the pandemic on 
the pace of development cannot be 
overstated. It has shown how quickly 
both organizations and individuals 
can change their behavior when it 
is really needed. It is also interesting 
that there are already existing tech-
nical solutions that have had a sharp 
increase in utilization during the 
pandemic. For example, in Stockholm 
the proportion of remote healthcare 
consultations increased from around 
4percent to over 25 percent8 in just a 
few months. The Company believes 
that this development is in its infancy 
and will continue to accelerate for a 
long time.

Agenda 2030 –  
Global Goals.
The Global Goals are part of the 
most ambitious sustainable devel-
opment agenda that the countries 
of the world have ever adopted. The 
initiative, run by the UN, covers a 
total of 17 universal goals. Goal 3 is 
about ensuring that everyone can 

live a healthy life and work for the 
well-being of all people of all ages. 
Good health is a basic precondition 
for people’s ability to reach their 
full potential and to contribute to 
the development of society. Human 
health is affected by economic, 
ecological and social factors, and 
Goal 3 includes all dimensions 
and people of all ages. Investing in 
health through preventive measures 
and modern and effective care for 
all helps to develop society as a 
whole and creates the conditions 
for people’s fundamental rights to 
well-being.9 The Goals are therefore 
a strong driving force in how 
healthcare develops on a global level 
going forward. The Goals are also 
the basis for a number of national 
initiatives worldwide that the 
Company believes can benefit actors 
that contribute to their achievement.

Diabetes around 
the world.
Treating diabetes is the Company’s 
main and most important area of 
activity. The disease is one of the 
fastest growing health challenges 
in modern times, and the number of 
adults living with diabetes has more 
than tripled in the last 20 years. Dia-
betes is a chronic disease that leads 
to extensive costs for society – USD 
760 billion in 2019 – and also greatly 
reduces quality of life for many 
who live with it. The International 
Diabetes Federation estimates that 
approximately 460 million people 
live with diabetes, and that the 
number will continue to increase to 
approximately 700 million people 
over the next 25 years.10 The disease 
is often divided into two types: type 
1 and type 2. About 90 percent of all 

people with diabetes have type 2.11 
In type 2 diabetes, the ability to 
produce insulin is not completely 
gone, but the amount of insulin is 
not enough for the body’s needs. This 
is mainly due to one of two things. 
One, the body is not able to produce 
insulin in sufficient amounts when 
the blood sugar rises, for example 
after a meal. Two, the body is unable 
to utilize the insulin that it produces. 
Both reasons mean that more insulin 
is needed to “open” the cells so they 
can receive the sugar in the blood.12 
Hereditary predisposition plays a 
major role in the risk of developing 
type 2 diabetes, but there are a 
number of other factors too. These 
include obesity, an inactive lifestyle, 
stress and old age. The risk of 
developing type 2 diabetes increases 
the older you get.13

The challenge of 
diabetes.
People living with diabetes must 
take great responsibility for their 
self-care, even when getting support 
from healthcare services.

The basis of self-care is to be able 
to measure your own blood sugar, 
to be able to interpret the results 
and make the right estimates – for 
example, injecting the right amount 
of insulin at the right time. It’s also 
important to have knowledge of how 
diet and physical activity affect 
blood sugar.14 This all places very 
high demands on the patient in their 
everyday life, on the days between 
healthcare visits. With all these 

11. International Diabetes Federation, December 2020. https://www.idf.org/aboutdiabetes/type-2-diabetes.html
12. Diabetesförbundets hemsida, oktober 2020. https://www.diabetes.se/diabetes/lar-om-diabetes/typer/typ-2/
13. Diabetesförbundets hemsida, december 2020. https://www.diabetes.se/diabetes/lar-om-diabetes/
14. Diabetesförbundets hemsida, december 2020. https://www.diabetes.se/diabetes/leva/behandling/egenvard/
15. Journal, Indian Academy of Clinical Medicine Vol. 15, No. 1 January-March, 2014.
16.  Polonsky WH, Henry RR. Poor medication adherence in type 2 diabetes: recognizing the scope of the problem and its key contributors.  

Patient Prefer Adherence. 2016;10:1299-1307, juli, 2016. doi:10.2147/PPA.S106821 https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27524885/
17.  Krass I, Schieback P, Dhippayom T. Adherence to diabetes medication: A systematic review. Diabet Med. 2014; 32: 725–37. doi:10.1111/dme.12651. 

https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25440507/
18.  Egede LE, Gebregziabher M, Echols C, Lynch CP. Longitudinal effects of medication nonadherence on glycemic control.  

A. Pharmacother. 2014; 48: 562–70. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24586059/
19. Diabetesförbundets hemsida, december 2020. https://www.diabetes.se/diabetes/leva/blodsockerkontroll/

challenges, studies suggest that up 
to 85percent of diabetics fail to treat 
themselves properly.15, 16

The exact number is difficult to 
determine, as different methods 
for assessing compliance lead to 
varying results, but there is a broad 
consensus that poor compliance 
is common among patients with 
diabetes.17 It is also well known 
that low compliance in treatment 
is associated with negative 
clinical outcomes, including higher 
healthcare costs, more long-term 
health complications, more hospital 
stays and increased mortality.18 
There is thus a great opportunity 
to both increase the quality of 
life for diabetics and reduce the 
burden on care. This can be done by 
providing more support for patients 
in their treatment in everyday life, 
introducing solutions that facilitate 
and stimulate increased compliance, 
and contributing to caregivers being 
able to provide patients with better 
and more personalized advice from a 
distance.

Complications from 
inadequate diabetes 
treatment.
People with diabetes have an 
increased risk of developing a 
number of serious health problems, 
so they should strive to achieve the 
best possible blood sugar control 
with as few hypoglycaemic (low 
blood sugar) episodes as possible. 
Good blood sugar control is the 
single most important factor in 
avoiding the acute problems and 

chronic complications of diabetes. 
Achieving blood-sugar control 
comparable to that of healthy 
people is, however, impossible for 
most people with diabetes.19 High 
blood-sugar levels over time can lead 
to serious diseases that affect the 
heart, blood vessels, eyes, kidneys, 
nerves and teeth. In addition, people 
with diabetes have a higher risk of 
developing infections. In almost all 
high-income countries, diabetes is 
a leading cause of cardiovascular 
disease, blindness, kidney failure and 
amputation. Maintaining healthy 
blood sugar levels, blood pressure 
and cholesterol at or near normal 
can help delay or prevent diabetic 
complications. Therefore, people with 
diabetes need regular supervision 
and access to medical aids in order 
to treat themselves properly.
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Products and services.

Brighter.
Brighter has developed a digital 
product platform based on a concept 
that the Company calls The Benefit 
Loop – a personal, holistic and 
data-centric approach to healthcare. 
The platform is based on patented 
technology and collected data on 
specified biomarkers and injected 
volumes of medication, with the 
ambition of creating better condi-
tions for more efficient care and 
more positive treatment results.

The first application based on the 
platform is Actiste®, developed for 
daily diabetes care of insulin-treated 
diabetes. Actiste® received EC certifi-
cation (CE mark) in September 2019. 
The Company has also developed 
an additional application called 
Actiste® Mini, for the treatment of 
non-insulin-treated diabetes. Actiste® 
Mini received EC certification 
(CE mark) in July 2020. Both devices 

are offered as part of a subscription 
service that includes – in addition 
to the device itself – digital support 
and overview through a mobile appli-
cation, global connection through 
state-of-the-art eSIM technology, and 
automatic replenishment of all neces-
sary consumables (excluding insulin) 
directly to the home. This is to facili-
tate everyday treatment as much as 
possible for the user, where the goal 
is to promote increased compliance 
with treatment recommendations. 
This is done in combination with the 
ability to share important treatment 
data with caregivers, which thus 
offers better transparency and an 
opportunity to provide more indi-
vidualized advice based on real-life 
data. The Company believes that the 
solution can have the opportunity to 
contribute greatly to more effective 
treatments and improved treatment 
results for the user over time.

The Benefit Loop®.

The Actiste® device.
Actiste® combines a blood sampler, blood glucose meter 
and insulin pen in a single device. It’s designed to simplify 
everyday life for people with insulin-treated diabetes and 
has its own built-in global internet connection through 
eSIM, which means that it is completely independent of 
other devices.

All data is saved automatically and 
synchronized with the associated 
mobile application. Actiste® is easy 
to use, easy to carry and 
has smart storage for 
test strips, lancets and 
needles. The device is 
delivered, among other 
things, as part of a 
subscription service, 
described earlier in 
the report.

Actiste® Mini-enheten.
Actiste® Mini is a smaller variant of the initial version, 
where the insulin pen (injection functionality) has 
been replaced with a smaller storage container for 
consumables. The solution can be used to take blood 
samples, measure blood sugar and review values 

over time, and is primarily aimed at 
people who have non-insulin-dependent 
diabetes. Actiste® Mini is easy to use, 

easy to carry and has 
smart storage for test 
strips and lancets. 
Like Actiste®, it has its 
own built-in internet 
connection. All data is 
saved automatically 
and synchronized with 
the associated mobile 
application. The device 
is delivered, among 
other things, as part of 
a subscription service 
as described earlier in 
the report.
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FeedbackSelf care

Research
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Global mobile
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Nectarine Health.
To be able to live independently while 
maintaining well-being is a life goal 
for many older people. Brighter’s 
subsidiary Nectarine Health uses 
innovative technology to help and 
inspire older people to live a full 
and higher quality everyday life, 
while reducing anxiety among their 
relatives.

During 2020–2021, the need to be 
able to live independently in the 
home while maintaining well-being 
and security has been of utmost 
importance to the elderly. Social 
distancing rules meant that many 
people were unable to visit elderly 
relatives, yet their concerns for the 
relatives increased.

Nectarine Health is developing 
a technology for the home that 
increases security by detecting 
possible accidents, providing the 
opportunity to send alarms, and 
proactively detecting changes in the 
well-being of the user. The system 
comprises a wrist bracelet along with 
sensors and nodes that are placed 
in electrical outlets in the home. The 
bracelet is designed to be discreet 
and comfortable, with a battery life 
of nine months or longer. The nodes 
are easily installed and send signals 
about movements in the home to a 
digital platform where data is trans-
formed into insights through AI-based 
algorithms. In addition, there is a 
mobile application that notifies 
with alarms and includes insights 
about well-being for the user and for 
relatives who are invited to access 
the information, which comes from a 
sensor in the bracelet that measures 
movement and acceleration. The 
technology analyzes the common 
movement patterns of the individual 
user, and on that basis establishes 
insights into the movement and accel-
eration of the user in their everyday 
life. Sleep is an important indicator 
of well-being. Data on deviations can 
show that sleep is disturbed more 
than usual or that the individual 
moves less often than usual between 

the rooms of the home. With this data 
as a starting point, the technology 
detects any behavioral changes and 
a changed general condition can 
be noticed. If a user falls, the system 
can distinguish a clear pattern for it. 
The technology creates automatic 
real-time notifications in the event of 
such a strong deviation in movement 
and acceleration, but also offers real-
time notifications if the user initiates 
an alarm.

The AI-based algorithms mean that 
the insights become more precise as 
they get to know the individual user’s 
behavioral patterns. The insights are 
based on data on triggering factors, 
such as deviations in activity level in 
movements and sleep. In case of devi-
ations, in-depth data can offer more 
information, such as the number of 
times the user wakes up per night and 
how long the sleep periods have been, 
which can provide a more reliable 
basis for examination than the sub-
jective perception. This information 
may also be useful in the event of 
further investigation into causes or 
symptoms. After health-promoting 
interventions, the collected data can 
offer insights into how to restore a 
normalized behavioral pattern, such 
as sleeping at the right time. The 
general condition of eldery people 
often gets worse after a fall. Brighter 
wants to avoid that from happening.

The Nectarine Health solution 
provides insights into whether the 
user is sleeping badly or is unusually 
inactive, which may be signals 
that there is an increased risk of 
a fall or of deteriorating health. 
By receiving this information, the 
user, with the support of relatives, 
can act proactively and seek care 
before the risk has increased further. 
An emergency situation, such as a 
case, is presented as an alarm. In 
emergency cases – such as if a user 
falls and cannot get up again – an 
alarm in the app alerts close relatives 
who have been invited to access the 
eldery person’s data. In addition to 
the AI algorithms, the bracelet offers 
a comfortable design, battery life 
of about nine months, and water 
resistance. This means that users can 
wear the bracelet around the clock, 
which leads to an increased amount 
of data that can then continuously 
improve the service and the algo-
rithms over time. Nectarine Health 
has issued 1,400,000 preferential 
shares with 10 votes per share 
and a dividend preference, as well 
1,400,000 ordinary shares. Brighter 
owns all the preferential shares and 
1,137,647 ordinary shares. Personnel 
and consultants active in Nectarine 
Health own the other 262,353 
ordinary shares.
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Geographical focus.
Brighter has a global focus and 
active operations in several regions: 
Europe, Southeast Asia, the Middle 
East and North America. The com-
pany also has ongoing discussions 
with important stakeholders in Africa 
and other regions. The Company has 
come a long way in commercializa-
tion in different markets and has 

received various types of market 
approvals and certificates. In Sweden 
and the United Kingdom, the focus 
is on validating the solution through 
user studies, clinical studies and 
proof-of-concepts. In Southeast 
Asia and the Middle East, Brighter 
is currently focusing entirely on 
commercializing the diabetes service 

Actiste® Diabetes Management as a 
Service. In North America, the Com-
pany focuses on welfare and care 
solutions through Nectarine Health. 
The United States is the main market 
for Nectarine’s newly developed 
consumer solution. 

Current commercial position.
The year 2021 was characterized 
by a wide range of activities, the 
most important of which was the 
commercial progress towards our 
upcoming product launch in Qatar. In 
February, Brighter signed a five-year 
distribution agreement with Al Danah 
Medical Company, a distributor of 
medical and biomedical equipment, 
pharmaceuticals, OTC products, 
disposable medical products and 
dermo-cosmetic products in Qatar. 
During the fourth quarter, the 
Company was fully focused on the 
launch, which was subsequently 
completed in Q1 2022. In the United 
Arab Emirates, the Company signed 

a commercial partnership with Prime 
Healthcare Group and Al Zahra 
Hospital in 2021, and a collaboration 
agreement with DiapointME, a diabe-
tes-oriented digital and e-commerce 
platform. In Indonesia, a reseller 
agreement regarding Actiste® Mini 
was signed during the third quarter 
with Medico (PT Silikon Digital 
Indonesia), a provider of cloud-based 
healthcare systems in Indonesia. 
Brighter has also expanded its sales 
channels in Sweden by entering into 
a commercial cooperation agreement 
with VivBon AB, a Swedish service 
provider that offers a wide range of 
personal services and solutions for 

seniors and their relatives. The Com-
pany also has ongoing discussions 
with potential distributors in Africa.

In 2021, through our Actiste® 
Diabetes Management as a Service 
offering, Brighter implemented 
several initiatives to collect valuable 
data and user insights that can form 
the basis for further commercializa-
tion opportunities in various markets. 
For commercialization of Actiste® 
Diabetes Management as a Service 
the company is focusing on three of 
its key markets during 2022; Qatar, 
United Arab Emirates and Indonesia.

Commercial status 2022 for key markets in the Middle East and SouthEast Asia.

Appointments and certifications.
Brighter’s quality management 
system is certified under ISO-13485 
and has successfully CE-marked 
five solutions: Actiste®, Actiste® 
Mini, the Benefit Loop Backend, the 
Companion App for Android, and 
the Companion App for iOS. The 
Actiste® device was awarded the 

prestigious Red Dot Award in 2018. 
The Company was further named 
as one of the Nordic region’s most 
promising future companies in the 
Serendipity Challenge 2018, and 
won the Swecare Rising Star Award 
in 2019. In November 2020 the 
Company also won the Healthtech 

Unicorn Battle Europe and in 2021, 
the Actiste® service was named by 
Fast Company as one of the “Best 
world-changing ideas”. Nectarine 
Health won the “Audience Award” in 
the Techarenan Challenge 2020.
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Share price development. 
On December 30, 2021, the last trading day of the year, 
the average price for Brighter’s share was SEK 1.23 per 
share. Brighter’s share was traded during the year as 
the highest at an average price of SEK 2.85 (January 
4) and as the lowest at an average price of SEK 0.41 
(November 5). In 2021, the share fell by 82percent.

Trade and turnover.
In 2021, 1,326,845,767 shares were traded, which 
corresponds to a turnover rate of 4 calculated on the 
average number of shares during the year, 333,037,621. 
The number of trades for the year was 246,140 with an 
average daily volume amounting to 5,253,020 shares. 
Largest volume, 65,823,507 shares were traded on July 20.

Dividend.
As Brighter is in the growth phase, the Board has decided 
that no dividend will be paid.

Share capital development.
 According to the Articles of Association, the  company’s 
share capital shall amount to a minimum of SEK 
34,152,242.95 and a maximum of SEK 136,608,971.80. 
The number of shares shall be a minimum of 683,044,859 
and a maximum of 2,732,179,436. Each share has a quota 
value of SEK 0.05.

During the year, the share capital increased from 
SEK 11,450,277.00 to SEK 19,515,567.40.

On January 25, 2021, the Extraordinary General Meeting 
amended the Articles of Association to read: The share 
capital amounts to a minimum of SEK 10,000,000 and 
a maximum of SEK 40,000,000. The number of shares 
shall be a minimum of 200,000,000 and a maximum of 
800,000,000.

In February 2021, a rights issue was carried out, consist-
ing of units, which was closed in March 2022. The share 
capital then increased to SEK 17,365,921.65.

During July–August, two cash issues were carried out and 
closed. The share capital then increased to 19,515,567.40.

On December 7, 2021, the Extraordinary General Meeting 
amended the Articles of Association to read: The share 
capital amounts to a minimum of SEK 34,152,242.95 and 
a maximum of SEK 136,608,971.80. The number of shares 
shall be a minimum of 683,044,859 and a maximum of 
2,732,179,436.

Corporate governance.

Legislation 
and articles of 
association.
Brighter is a Swedish public limited 
Company and is regulated by Swed-
ish legislation, primarily the Swedish 
Companies Act (2005: 551) and the 
Annual Accounts Act (1995: 1554). 
The Company is listed on the 
Nasdaq First North Growth Market 
(“First North”) and thereby applies 
First North’s regulations. In addition 
to legislation and First North’s 
regulations, the Company’s articles 
of association and its internal 
guidelines for corporate governance 
form the basis of our governance. 
The Articles of Association, which can 
be found on the Company’s website, 
state among other things, the seats 
of the Board, the focus of operations, 
the limits for share capital and 
number of shares, as well as the 
conditions for attending the Annual 
General Meeting.

Swedish code 
of corporate 
governance.
The Swedish Code of Corporate 
Governance (the “Code”) sets a 
higher standard for good corporate 
governance than the minimum 
requirements of the Swedish 
Companies Act, and shall be applied 
by companies whose shares are 
admitted to trading on a regulated 
market in Sweden. At present, the 
Code is not binding on companies 
whose shares are listed on First 
North. The code is an important 
guide for the Company’s internal 
guidelines for corporate governance.

Annual General Meeting.
The shareholders’ influence on 
the Company is exercised at the 
Annual General Meeting, which, 
in accordance with the Swedish 
Companies Act, is the Company’s 
highest decision-making body. 
The Annual General Meeting may 
decide on any matter in the Com-
pany that does not constitute the 
exclusive competence of another 
corporate body. The Annual Gen-
eral Meeting thus has an overriding 
role in relation to the Company’s 
Board and managing director. 
Notices, minutes and other commu-
nication from general meetings are 
made available on the Company’s 
website. At the Annual General 
Meeting, which according to the 
Swedish Companies Act shall be 
held within six months from the end 
of each financial year, decisions 
shall be made on the adoption of 
the income statement and balance 
sheet for the parent Company and 
the Group, dispositions regarding 
the Company’s profit or loss, 
discharge of the Board members 
Board members and auditors, 
as well as remuneration to the 
Board and auditors. At the Annual 
General Meeting, the shareholders 
also make decisions on other key 
issues, such as amendments to the 
Company’s articles of association, 
possible new issue of shares, 
etc. If at least one tenth of all 
shares in the Company request 
so in writing, then the Board 
shall convene an extraordinary 
general meeting. Notice of the 
Annual General Meeting shall, in 
accordance with the Company’s 
Articles of Association, be given 
by advertising in Post- och Inrikes 
Tidningar and by making the 
notice available on the Company’s 
website. That notice that has been 

issued shall at the same time be 
announced in Svenska Dagbladet. 
Notice of a general meeting shall 
be issued no earlier than six weeks 
and no later than four weeks 
before the meeting. Shareholders 
who are entered in the Company’s 
share register kept by Euroclear 
on the record date, just before 
the meeting, and register their 
participation in the Company no 
later than the day specified in 
the notice convening the meeting, 
have the right to attend and vote 
at the general meeting, either in 
person or by proxy. Assistants to 
shareholders in the Company may 
attend the Annual General Meeting 
if shareholders report this. Every 
shareholder in the Company who 
reports a matter with sufficient 
foresight has the right to have the 
matter considered at the Annual 
General Meeting. In order to be 
able to decide who has the right to 
participate and vote at the Annual 
General Meeting, Euroclear shall, 
at the Company’s request, provide 
the Company with a list of all 
holders of shares as of the record 
date. Shareholders who have 
their shares nominee-registered 
must instruct the nominee to 
temporarily register the shares in 
the shareholder’s name in order to 
have the right to participate and 
vote for their shares at the Annual 
General Meeting (voting rights 
registration). Such registration 
must be completed no later than 
the applicable record date and 
expires after the record date. 
Shareholders who have their 
shares directly registered in an 
account in the Euroclear system 
will automatically be included in 
the list of shareholders.
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Nominating committee.
The Nomination Committee’s main 
responsibility and tasks are to 
propose candidates for the position 
of Chairman of the Board and other 
members of the Board. The Nom-
ination Committee also proposes 
fees and other remuneration to the 
Board members, as well as making 
proposals for the election of and 
remuneration to auditors. Further-
more, the Nomination Committee 
shall submit proposals for a process 
for appointing the Nomination 
Committee prior to the Annual 
General Meeting. According to the 
Nomination Committee’s instructions, 
the Nomination Committee shall 
consist of a minimum of two and 
a maximum of three members in 
addition to the Chairman of the 
Board. The three largest shareholders 
who are registered with Euroclear 
Sweden AB as of the last September 
of the year before the meeting have 
the right to appoint each member. 
Shareholders are also considered to 
be a group of two or more sharehold-
ers (shareholder group) who have 
notified the Chairman of the Board 
that they wish to participate jointly 
in the Nomination Committee’s work. 

If these shareholders choose to 
abstain from appointing a member, 
the turn goes on to the fourth largest 
shareholder in terms of votes, and 
so on. The Nomination Committee 
appoints a chairman from among its 
members. The Chairman of the Board 
shall not be the Chairman of the 
Nomination Committee. If a member 
leaves the Nomination Committee 
before its work is completed, and the 
Nomination Committee considers 
that there is a need to replace this 
member, a replacement shall be 
appointed by the same shareholder 
who appointed the resigned member 
or, if this shareholder no longer 
belongs to the largest shareholders, 
by the shareholder. belonging to 
this group. If the shareholder has 
been appointed by substantially 
reducing his holding in the company, 
and the Nomination Committee 
does not consider it inappropriate 
in view of any need for continuity 
before the forthcoming Annual 
General Meeting, the member shall 
leave the Nomination Committee 
and the Nomination Committee 
offer the largest shareholder who 
has not appointed a member of the 

Nomination Committee. to appoint a 
new member. The Nomination Com-
mittee’s term of office extends until 
the next Annual General Meeting 
has been held or, if necessary, until 
a new Nomination Committee has 
been appointed. The members of the 
Nomination Committee shall perform 
their duties and tasks in accordance 
with the Code. In consultation with 
the largest owners, the Chairman 
of the Board of Brighter AB has 
established a Nomination Committee 
for the 2022 Annual General 
Meeting. The Nomination Committee 
consists of Brighter’s Chairman of 
the Board Christer Trägårdh, Nino 
Armoni, Staffan Haegermark, and 
Jimmy Tiljander. Staffan Haegermark 
is the chairman of the nomination 
committee. The appointment has 
been made in accordance with the 
instructions regarding principles for 
the appointment of the Nomination 
Committee in the company, which 
were established at the Annual 
General Meeting in Brighter 2021. 
The text above is a simplified 
description of the main features of 
the instructions. 

The Board.
After the Annual General Meeting, 
the Board is the Company’s highest 
decision-making body. The Board 
is also the Company’s highest 
executive body and the Company’s 
deputy. Furthermore, according 
to the Swedish Companies Act, 
the Board is responsible for the 
Company’s organization and the 
management of the Company’s 
affairs, shall continuously assess 
the Company’s and the Group’s 
financial situation and ensure that 
the Company’s organization is 
designed so that accounting, asset 
management and the Company’s 
financial conditions are otherwise 
controlled. The Chairman of the 
Board has a special responsibility 
to lead the Board’s work and ensure 
that the Board fulfills its statutory 
tasks. According to the Articles of 
Association, the Company’s Board 
shall consist of a minimum of three 
(3) and a maximum of ten (10) 
Board members. A member is elected 
annually at the Annual General 
Meeting for the period until the next 
Annual General Meeting has been 
held. There is no limit to how long a 
member may sit on the Board. The 
Board’s tasks include establishing the 
Company’s overall goals and strate-

gies, monitoring major investments, 
ensuring that there is satisfactory 
control of the Company’s compliance 
with laws and other rules that apply 
to the Company’s operations and 
the Company’s compliance with 
internal guidelines. The Board’s 
tasks also include ensuring that the 
Company’s information to the market 
and investors is characterized by 
openness and is correct, relevant 
and reliable, as well as appointing, 
evaluating and, if necessary, 
dismissing the Company’s CEO. The 
Board has, in accordance with the 
Swedish Companies Act, established 
rules of procedure for its work, 
which are evaluated, updated and 
adopted annually. The Board meets 
regularly according to a program 
established in the rules of procedure, 
which contains certain fixed decision 
points and certain decision points 
if necessary. Provisions on the 
establishment of an audit committee 
are found in the Swedish Companies 
Act. Provisions on the establishment 
of a remuneration committee can be 
found in the Code. The provisions of 
the Swedish Companies Act in this 
respect only apply to companies 
whose shares are admitted to trading 
on a regulated market, which does 

not include First North, and as stated 
above in this section, the Code is not 
binding on the Company. The Board 
has also established a remuneration 
committee and an audit committee. 
These committees work for prepara-
tory purposes to simplify the Board’s 
work. However, all decisions are made 
by the Board. It is the Board’s respon-
sibility to ensure transparency and 
control of the Company’s operations 
through reports and contacts with 
the Company’s auditor. During the 
year, the Board met on 44 occasions, 
including per capsulam decisions. 
The matters that have mainly been 
dealt with and have been the subject 
of decisions concern the Company’s 
organization and structure, economic 
development, product development 
towards commercialization, growth 
strategy, financing, and sales both 
abroad and in Sweden. The work 
is governed by rules of procedure 
that mainly regulate the work of the 
Board, the division of work between 
the Board and the CEO, the latter’s 
responsibilities and instructions for 
financial reporting. The Nomination 
Committee meets regularly and 
before each Annual General Meeting. 
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Corporate Management.

Board members.

According to the Company’s Articles of Association, the Board shall consist of a minimum 
of three and a maximum of ten members, without deputies. The Company’s Board 
currently comprises five ordinary Board members, including the Chairman. The Board is 
based in the Stockholm municipality. All Board members are elected for the period until 
the end of the next Annual General Meeting.

Christer Trägårdh.
Chairman of the Board

Christer Trägårdh has a long background in the banking industry and solid 
experience in Board work from many assignments in various industries. During 
2014 to 2019, Christer was a member of Swedbank’s Group Management, first 
as Regional Bank Governor and from 2016 as Head of Swedish Banking. Prior 
to that, Christer was CEO of Bergslagen Sparbank and has been active for 
over 20 years in various leading positions within Handelsbanken. Furthermore, 
Christer has had more than 20 Board assignments over the years, such as 
Chairman of the Board of Fastighetsbyrån, Vice Chairman of Svensk Handel 
Försäkringar (now SH Pension) and Board member of UC.

Other ongoing board assignments: Chairman of the board, PLW Gruppen, 
board member, Pink Nectarine Health, Styrelseakademien and Brighter One.

Ownership in Brighter: 2,871,425 shares and 2,153,568 warrants.

Åsa Sjöblom Nordgren.
Åsa Sjöblom Nordgren is the CEO and founder of Trice Imaging Inc.,  

a global market-leading management Company in cloud-based medical 
imaging. The Company’s solution is available in 42 countries and is built 

into market-leading machines from, for example, GE Healthcare, Philips and 
FujiFilm. Trice Imaging has expanded its distribution and e-commerce globally 

through healthcare providers. Åsa Sjöblom Nordgren has solid experience in 
innovation, digitalization and changed consumer behavior in healthcare.  

She has previously held leading positions at Metronome, Swedish  
Communicators, MobPal Mobile Relations and Tre.

Other ongoing board assignments: Chairman of the board and board 
member at Trice Imaging Inc. and chairman of the board at Tricey Sweden AB. 

Ownership in Brighter: 333 334 shares and 500 001 warrants.

Habib Al Assaad.
Habib Al-Assaad is an international senior advisor currently testing post-
Covid-19 strategies. He advises selected family members of the Ruling Family 
in Dubai and the United Arab Emirates. His previous experience includes senior 
positions at Harvard Square’s MIRAKI Innovation, whose successes include 
the largest med-tech deal ever (Auris was sold to Johnson & Johnson), senior 
positions at AFAQ Group, Revitalife Compounding Pharmacies and Clinics, 
Motorola and Andersen Consulting. Hab is also a co-founder of Impact Hub 
Network and ORYXSIS 1 Bank. He has been a member of the Hawkamah Institute 
for Corporate Governance and the INSEAD Social Entrepreneurship Program.

Other ongoing board assignments: AFAQ Group for General Investments, Life 
Matrix Medical, When We Band Together. 

Ownership in Brighter: 148 304 shares and 222 456 warrants.

Karin O’Connor.
Karin O’Connor is the founder and CEO of Corporate Creativity AB,  

a consulting firm that specializes in transformation,, digitalization, brand 
building and communication. She is also the author of the book “The Money-

fest” which is about how companies create success in the fourth industrial 
revolution. She has an extensive background in business restructuring both in 
Sweden and internationally. She has previously been head of the transforma-
tion at Colart Ltd, in London, has worked as a financial journalist and analyst, 

and had several Board assignments for, among others, BRIO, SOS Children’s 
Villages and Telge Energi. Karin has a Master’s Degree in Economics with a 

focus on Financial Economics, and a Journalism Degree from  
the University of Gothenburg.

Other ongoing board assignments: Board member at White Arkitekter AB  
and Tranpenad AB.

Ownership in Brighter: 333 334 shares and 500 001 warrants.

Clas Lindbergson.
Clas Lindbergson is a business generalist with broad experience from over 

25 years in the pharmaceutical industry, with leading roles in sales and 
marketing at Novartis and Pfizer. His main skills are in management, business 

development, sales and marketing. Clas has previously been Managing Director 
in the Nordic region at Eisai AB, co-founder and CEO of Ergobe Pharma AB/

Unimedic Pharma AB, and co-founder and CEO of FrostPharma AB.

Other ongoing board assignments: Head of Business Development on 
FrostPharma AB. 

Ownership in Brighter: 334 334 shares and 500 001 warrants.
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Erik Lissner.
Interim CEO since 2021

Erik has extensive experience from different CEO roles and management teams 
in both large and small technology-focused listed companies. He has spent 
most of his career in the med-tech sector, where he has run both start-up com-
panies and worked in various leading positions at Johnson & Johnson Medical 
Device, with a focus on sales and marketing. He has experience from medical 
technology, biotechnology and digital health. Most recently, Erik comes from 
Oxygy where he held several leading positions. Prior to that, he was the CEO 
of Papilly (publ.) and the CEO of Biosensor Applications (publ.). Erik has a 
MBA from the Stockholm School of Economics and a Bachelor’s Degree from 
Stockholm University.

Ownership in Brighter: 333,334 shares and 500,001 warrants

Christopher Robinson.
Interim CFO since 2021

Christopher has  over 20 years of experience from working in fast-growing 
international environments. He has helped Nordic companies establish them-
selves in Brazil and  Latin America. Most recently, he came from Technicorum, 
where he was interim CFO, and before that he was senior controller at Vatten-
fall. He has experience from companies such as Bonnier Broadcasting, Spotify, 
Byggmax and E*Trade. Christopher holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Industrial 
Engineering from Stanford University, and an MBA and a Master’s Degree in 
Finance from Northeastern University.

 Leadership team.

In accordance with the provisions of the Swedish Companies Act, the Company’s CEO  
handles the day-to- day management of the Company in accordance with the Board’s 
guidelines and instructions. Measures which, with regard to the scope and nature of 
the Company’s operations, are of an unusual type or of great importance, fall outside 
the  “day-to-day management” and must therefore, as a general rule, be prepared and 
presented to the Board for decision. The CEO shall also take the measures necessary for 
the Company’s accounting to be carried out in accordance with law and for the asset 
management to be handled in a competent manner. The CEO is subordinate to the Board 
and the Board can also decide matters that are part of the day-to-day administration. 
The CEO’s work and role and the division of work between the Board and the CEO are set 
out in a written instruction adopted by the Board (so-called CEO instructions) and the 
Board continuously evaluates the CEO’s work.

Jonas Johansson.
Head of operations since 2021

Jonas has over 15 years of experience from various leading positions, 
mainly in the med-tech sector, and has previously worked for companies 

such as St. Jude Medical, Saab and Elekta. Jonas is responsible for 
Brighter’s operational function and ensures that the Company delivers 

high-quality products and services and is at the forefront of innovation. 
Jonas has a Master’s Degree in Systems Science from Luleå University.

Dragan Zdravkovic.
Head of Medical Affairs since 2020

Dragan is a Medical Doctor with a Master’s Degree in Endocrinology. 
He is highly experienced in the pharmaceutical industry, with more than 

17 years of experience from leading companies. He has held roles in 
everything from clinical research to operational activities. Dragan has 

a passion for addressing challenges and unmet needs in the field of 
diabetes. As Head of Medical Affairs at Brighter, he contributes his insights 
in research and supports the entire Company in achieving its goal: devel-

oping a data-driven solution for smarter treatment of chronic diseases, for 
a positive impact on global healthcare.

Maja Roslund.
Head of People and Culture since 2019

Maja has 20 years experience from senior leadership roles that include HR 
Leader, acting CEO at an HR consulting Company, and running her own 

consulting Company. The assignments have varied between large companies 
such as Swedish Match, Axel Johnson International and Ericsson, to start-up 

companies such as Unilever-owned Blue Air Cabin Air, where Maja was 
involved from the start and established operations in Sweden and China. 

Maja has, among other things, studied leadership, pedagogy, organizational 
development, and Organizational Behavior Management (OBM). Maja has 

a genuine passion for getting both businesses and individuals to grow 
sustainably, and thereby create sustainable corporate cultures and employer 

brands that ensure the long-term supply of skills.
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Johan Möller.
Head of Sales and Marketing since 2021

Johan has a passion for sales, go-to-market and innovative business models 
that work in an international and complex environment. He has a background 
from management consulting in the automotive industry, risk analysis at 
iZettle, automation at Daimler Japan, and most recently as a project manager 
at the Swedish Trade and Investment Council in Southeast Asia. He has 
worked with several disruptive initiatives in heavily regulated industries, such 
as fin-tech. He has also supported several Swedish companies in their global 
expansion and commercialization in Asia.

Marie-Louise Kanon.
Head of Communication and Brand since 2021

Marie-Louise is a senior communications professional with more than 20 years 
of experience from various leading roles in marketing and communication in 
both the private and public sectors. She has solid industry experience in IT 
and telecom, as well as with companies experiencing major changes. Before 
Brighter, Marie-Louise had a leadership role in the entertainment industry, where 
she was responsible for communication, media and PR. 
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Internal control and audit.
According to the Swedish Companies 
Act, the Company’s Board is 
responsible for the Company’s 
organization and the management 
of the Company’s affairs, shall 
continuously assess the Company’s 
and the Group’s financial situation, 
and ensure that the Company’s 
organization is designed so that 
accounting, asset management and 
the Company’s financial conditions 
are otherwise controlled. During the 
year, the Board worked to further 
develop internal control and the 
processes surrounding this. This 
has resulted in the implementation 

of a number of policies concerning 
corporate governance and the 
processes for it, as well as HR, Risk, 
Quality, IT, IT security, and not least 
risk management, which is described 
in more detail below. The rules of 
procedure established by the Board 
contain instructions for internal finan-
cial reporting, and all interim reports, 
annual reports and press releases 
are published on the Company’s 
website in direct connection with the 
publication. The Company is required 
to have at least one auditor for review 
of the Company’s and the Group’s 
annual report and accounting as well 

as the Board’s and the CEO’s work. 
The audit must be as thorough and 
comprehensive as good auditing 
practice requires. The Company’s 
auditors are elected in accordance 
with the Swedish Companies Act 
by the Annual General Meeting. An 
auditor in a Swedish limited liability 
Company thus has his assignment 
from and reports to the Annual 
General Meeting, and may not allow 
him or herself to be guided in his work 
by the Board or any senior executive 
in the Company.

Description of risks and risk management.
Exposure and risk management are a natural part of a business. The focus is on 
identifying risks, preventing risks from arising, and preparing action plans that make it 
possible to limit any damage that these risks may cause. The risks can be divided into 
strategic risks, operational risks, financial risks and legal risks. Risks can, even if they 
are prevented, have a negative effect on operations.

Risks. 
A risk is defined as an uncertainty 
that an event could occur that may 
affect the Company’s ability to 
achieve set goals. Risks are a natural 
element in all operations and they 
must be managed in an efficient 
manner. Risk management aims to 
prevent and limit risks that affect 
the business in a negative way. 
Brighter makes an annual overall 
risk assessment where the Company 
identifies and assesses risks that 
threaten Brighter’s goal fulfillment. 
The identified risks are assessed 
based on the following two criteria: 
1) The probability that the risk will 
occur 2) The impact on Brighter if the 
risk should occur.

Risk management. 
Brighter’s management has 
identified possible events that could 
have an impact on the Company’s 
operations. The events have been 
evaluated and reduced to a net 
list that is considered to represent 
the most relevant risks. In order to 
manage and counteract identified 
risks, a number of control activities 
(risk-mitigation measures) have been 
established. For each identified risk, 
there are activities to counteract, 
limit, control and manage the risk. 
A self-evaluation of the effectiveness 
of the control activities must be 
carried out annually. Brighter has 
a Group wide monitoring process 
where the effectiveness of the 
controls is evaluated and reported 
to the CFO of Brighter. The CFO is 
responsible for presenting the results 
of the self-evaluation to the audit 
committee and the Board.

Overall risk areas. 
The risk factors are presented in 
a limited number of categories 
as follows:

• Strategic risks

• Operational risks

• Financial risks

• Legal risks

Strategic risks.

Commercially  
untested services.
Brighter’s operations were started 
in 2007, and the services are just at 
the beginning of commercialization. 
There is thus a lack of experience 
from the market’s receptivity to the 
Company’s services, which makes it 
more difficult to evaluate the Compa-
ny’s future prospects. For the same 
reason, Brighter may find it difficult 
to negotiate advantageous agree-
ments with suppliers and partners. 
Furthermore, this limited business 
history makes it difficult to predict 
future development and revenues. It 
could also lead to presented plans 
and results being delayed, costly or 
proving to be inadequate. 

The Company assesses the proba-
bility that the above-mentioned risk 
occurs as medium-high.
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Assessment of the 
Company’s markets.
Brighter operates in a global 
market that the Company expects 
to experience significant growth in 
the coming years. There is a risk that 
this assessment is incorrect. Mis-
judgments can relate to the general 
design of the service, as well as the 
potential and demand or receptivity 
in certain geographic markets. A 
lower growth rate than expected 
may have a negative effect on the 
Company’s conditions for sales and 
earnings development.

The Company assesses the proba-
bility that the above-mentioned risk 
occurs in all markets as low but in 
some markets as medium high. The 
assessed effect on the Company’s 
sales and earnings development 
would depend on, for example, 
the size of the market and the 
misjudgment.

Growth strategy.
Brighter is largely organized as 
an entrepreneurial Company, 
and in recent years has seen 
significant growth in large parts of 
the organization. This requires the 
implementation of new policies, 
processes and better defined roles 
and ownership within all parts of the 
business, as well as follow-up of these 
to ensure operational efficiency. The 
risk that these are not in place within 
the business in the event of new 
technological development and/or in 
the event of significant growth within 
the Company can lead to inefficient 
or insufficient internal management 
or an incorrect competence profile. 
This can lead to, among other things, 
communication difficulties, which in 
turn can create difficulties with, for 
example, go-to-market activities, legal 
compliance, internal controls, etc.

The Company assesses the proba-
bility that the above-mentioned risk 
occurs as medium-high.

Product complaints 
and lack of deliveries.
As Brighter enters its market 
and continues to grow in scope, 
production is expected to increase. 
The risk of not being able to deliver 
a sufficient quantity of products on 
a larger scale or that the Company 
incorrectly calculates the production 
need can lead to inadequacy 
in production, complications in 
delivering services to customers, lost 
revenue, and potentially unfavorable 
publicity. This can have a negative 
impact on the Company’s operations 
and damage to the Company’s 
brand and reputation.

The Company assesses the proba-
bility that the above-mentioned risk 
occurs as medium-high.

General industry 
factors.
The industry in which Brighter oper-
ates is characterized by rapid tech-
nological development. This entails 
a constant risk that new technology 
and new products may circumvent 
or replace Brighter’s current patents 
or other intellectual property rights. 
Thus, it is fundamentally important 
that Brighter tries to be at the 
forefront of industry development. 
Insufficient time and resources, due 
to unpredictable and sudden events 
that deviate the Company from its 
initial business strategy, can lead 
to employees having to redistribute 
their time. This results in primary 
tasks being deprioritized and a 
potential negative impact on the 
Company’s operations and financial 
position. The Company believes that 
its services and products are well up 
to date in terms of current healthcare 
policy – where remote patient mon-
itoring and care is a priority among 

many actors – but the Company, 
like others, has experienced rapid 
and unpredictable fluctuations in 
priorities, funding opportunities 
and bandwidth in the healthcare 
sector (including with relevant 
decision-makers), especially during 
Covid-19 times. This can both benefit 
or disadvantage certain types of 
products, services and technologies. 
Brighter’s market and operations are 
still exposed to the consequences 
of Covid-19, which could lead to 
disruptions in operations as well as 
delays in the supply chain and sales.

The reported lack of availability of 
certain critical components (such as 
semiconductors and circuit Boards) 
that apply to all manufacturers of 
electronics and longer delivery times 
for the Company’s specific com-
ponents can also lead to delayed 
deliveries and/or non-delivery.

The Company assesses the proba-
bility that the above-mentioned risk 
occurs as medium-high.

Operational risks.

Depending on 
key people.
Brighter is largely dependent on a 
number of key people. A possible 
loss of any or all of these persons 
may result in the Company’s 
product development and com-
mercialization of products being 
delayed or made more expensive. 
The Company’s ability to retain 
qualified employees is important 
to ensure the level of competence 
in Brighter and there is a risk that 
the Company will not be able to 
retain these key personnel. Key 
people where loss has the greatest 
impact on the business are in top 
management, in quality assurance 
and regulatory issues as well as 
in product development. If the 
risk were to become a reality, it 
would make it more difficult for 
the Company to complete the 
expansion phase in which the 
Company is in, and thereby future 
earning capacity. 

The Company assesses that the 
probability of the above-men-
tioned risk being realized is 
medium.

Subcontractor 
and distributor 
dependency. 
Brighter has chosen to outsource 
certain key processes to promote 
efficiency and flexibility within 
the organization. Should one or 
more of these suppliers terminate 
their cooperation with Brighter or 
change their terms, or there should 
be an unpredictable interruption 
in production such as delayed 
deliveries or quality problems, 
this could affect Brighter’s 
commitments to its customers and 
the ability to provide services and 
products according to plan. Where 

Brighter has a distribution agree-
ment for the sale of the Company’s 
products, there is also a risk that 
the distributor will not meet its 
obligations under the agreement 
or that the agreements would be 
terminated. If an agreement were 
to be terminated, this could lead 
to an unpredictable reduction in 
sales and thus have a significant 
negative impact on the Company’s 
operations, financial position and 
results.

The Company assesses the prob-
ability that the above-mentioned 
risk occurs as medium-high.

Product liability.
There is a risk that the Company 
will be faced with product liability 
claims if a product causes damage 
to a person or property. There is 
a risk that the Company’s current 
or future insurance coverage 
is not sufficient to cover any 
requirements that may be imposed 
on product liability. Brighter’s 
products are linked to human 
health and where the product area 
is medical technology, product 
responsibility is higher than in 
other industries. The Company 
assesses that the requirements 
for product liability are relatively 
similar in most countries, and that 
the level of damages awarded is 
comparable in the countries where 
the Company is currently active.

The Company assesses the prob-
ability that the above-mentioned 
risk occurs as medium-high. The 
Company assesses that the risk, 
if realized, would have a limited 
direct impact on the Company’s 
financial position, but the effect 
on the Company’s competitive-
ness and reputation could be 
greater and is more difficult to 
assess in general.
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IT risks.
Brighter offers a service that 
naturally requires the Company to 
process large amounts of customers’ 
personal data, which can affect 
the Company both internally and 
externally. Internally the risk is with 
the current database structures 
and platform, which can lead to 
implications for both customers 
or employees due to the storing of 
both personal data and care data. 
Externally there is the risk of not 
complying with regulations, such as 
the Medical Device Directive (MDD) 
and the GDPR, and the implications 
that the Company may experience if, 
for example, Brighter’s products had 
their approvals removed, are subject 
to fines, and potentially unfavorable 
publicity.

The Company assesses the proba-
bility that the above-mentioned risk 
occurs as medium-high.

Financial risks.

Uncertain access 
to capital.
Brighter’s operations today are 
largely financed with capital from 
financial investors, which results in 
a potential risk of not being able to 
continue operating unless capital 
can be raised. The risk of uncertain 
access to capital can mean direct 
penalties for the Company’s 
operational activities, which in turn 
can lead to Brighter having difficulty 
in continuing to develop and/or 
produce the Company’s products. 
This could then have a significant 
negative impact on the Company’s 
operations, financial position and 
results.

The Company assesses the proba-
bility that the above-mentioned risk 
occurs as medium-high.

Financial 
considerations.
Brighter operates in a regulated 
market and needs to meet certain 
financial reporting requirements. 
Insufficient processes and controls 
for the accounting business can 
lead to incorrect financial reporting, 
which can lead to fines and loss of 
trust in the Company.

The Company assesses the proba-
bility that the above-mentioned risk 
occurs as low.

Legal risks.

Risk of infringement 
of the Company’s 
intellectual property 
rights.
Brighter is dependent on the ability 
to register and preserve patents, as 
well as to protect other intellec-
tual-property rights and specific 
knowledge. The patent portfolio is 
concentrated in a limited number 
of areas with high competition and 
potential for large international 
companies, which makes the defense 
of the patent portfolio more difficult. 
Brighter continuously seeks patent 
and trademark protection for the 
methods and products that the 
Company develops in selected 
markets, if this is deemed to be 
significant for the Company’s future 
development. There is a risk that 
current or future patent applications 
will not lead to approved patents, or 
that essential inventions will not be 
identified as such. Furthermore, the 
industry in which Brighter operates is 
characterized by rapid technological 
development. Therefore a risk exists 
that new technologies and products 
will be developed that circumvent or 
replace the Company’s current and 
future patents or other intellectual 
property rights. There is also a risk 
that Brighter’s competitors, with or 
without intent, will infringe the Com-
pany’s patent. If deemed necessary, 

the Company will protect its patents 
and other intellectual property rights 
through legal proceedings. However, 
there is a risk that Brighter will not 
be able to assert its rights in full in a 
court of law.

The Company assesses the 
probability that the risk will occur 
as medium-high.

Regulatory environment.
In medical technology and 
telecommunications, there are 
many regulatory aspects to take 
into account. Changes in customer 
behavior and new technology can 
lead to industry-wide challenges and 
new regulations, and/or new inter-
pretations of regulations. Meeting 
these regulations, requirements and 
guidelines can involve significant 
direct costs, and it can also delay 
plans. The Company may also face 
problems with maintaining licenses 
and permits.

The Company assesses the 
probability that the risk will occur as 
medium-high.

Disputes.
Brighter is the subject of a number of 
disputes. Although Brighter considers 
that the conditions for success with 
the claims that have been made 
against Brighter are very low, there 
are not insignificant costs associated 
with handling claims. These are 
partly in the form of agency costs, 
and partly also in the way that 
disputes take time and focus from 
Company management and other 
staff. In addition, in cases where 
Brighter has made or may make 
claims, there may be a counterparty 
risk in the sense that regardless of 
Brighter’s success, the debtor may 
not be able to pay their debt to 
Brighter.

The Company considers the risk 
that Brighter will continue to have 
to handle these requirements to be 
high, but the effect on the Compa-
ny’s financial position to be low.

Board of Directors’ Report.

Information about the business.
The Company’s name (also its trade 
name) is Brighter AB (public) with 
Swedish corporate identity number:  
556736-8591. Brighter AB was 
founded in Sweden on 5 July 2007 
and registered with the Swedish 
Companies Registration Office on 
31 August 2007. The Company’s 
operations are regulated by, and its 
shares have been issued in accor-
dance with, the Swedish Companies 
Act (2005: 551). The provisions in 
the Articles of Association are limited 
by the Swedish Companies Act with 
regards to changes in shareholders’ 
rights. The Company’s identification 
code for legal entities (LEI) is 
5299001CH8K0RXSYV047.

Brighter AB currently has three 
subsidiaries:

• Brighter One AB’s function is to be 
the holder of options that are used 
as part of external financing and 
incentive programs.

• Brighter AB has a subsidiary in 
the United Arab Emirates called 
Brighter Software Trading L.L.C. 
The subsidiary is jointly owned 
with partner AFAQ, but is 100% 
controlled by Brighter AB.

• Brighter AB also has another sub-
sidiary, Pink Nectarine Health AB, 
which in turn has two subsidiaries, 
Camanio Care Inc in Delaware, 
USA (under name change) and 
Nectarine Health Solutions Limited 
in the United Kingdom.

Brighter is a purpose-driven Group 
of companies and brands in the 
health-tech sector. By introducing 

cutting-edge technology and new 
innovative services, the Group’s goal 
at the global level is to contribute to 
improving the health and wellbeing 
of people, as well as creating 
conditions for a more efficient and 
sustainable use of society’s health-
care resources.

The Board has its seat in Stockholm 
municipality with address 
Borgarfjordsgatan 18, 164 40 Kista, 
Sweden. Brighter AB is listed on the 
NASDAQ First North Growth Market 
(BRIG). Brighters Certified Adviser on 
Nasdaq First North Growth Market is 
Mangold Fondkommission AB.

+46 8 5277 5020, ca@mangold.se, 
www.mangold.se

For more information: www.brighter.se 
or ir@brighter.se.

Divestment of companies.
On 1 December 2021, the Board 
decided to sell all the shares in the 
wholly-owned subsidiary Camanio 
AB for SEK 65 million. Sales are 
reported during the current period 
as a discontinued operation. This 
decision was made in line with the 
Company’s goal of streamlining its 

operations to focus on Brighter’s core 
business: data-driven and connected 
diabetes care. Income and expenses 
as well as gains and losses related 
to the winding down of this segment 
have been removed from the result of 
continuing operations and are shown 
as a single line in the statement of 

comprehensive income (“Net income 
from discontinued operations”) in 
accordance with IFRS 5.

Brighter AB’s holding in Blodtrycks-
doktorn AB was also sold in 
December 2021 for SEK 5 million.

Patents, IP and licensing.
Since its founding, Brighter has 
had a significant focus on building 
a strong IP portfolio in digital and 
connected healthcare. The majority 
of the Company’s approved patents 
and ongoing patent applications 
are global. The patents constitute a 
number of patent families related to: 
1) Combining functions (i.e. mea-
surement and injection) in one and 
the same device: 2) Actual injected 

doses of medication into the body; 
3) Mobile supervision of connected 
medical aids; 4) AI-driven supervision 
of connected medical aids; and 
5) Microneedle technology. The 
Company considers the IP portfolio, 
and the commercial licensing oppor-
tunities it creates, as being its own 
potential business area. In addition 
to patents, the Company also has 
technical know-how of our field, 

which makes it difficult for potential 
competitors to copy the Company’s 
products and methods.
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Investments.
The Company continuously invests 
in the development of medical 
technology equipment and the 
associated IT infrastructure. Until 
today, investments have mainly 
been in the CE-marked device 
Actiste® and its associated app. 
In the future, investments will also 
be made in the development of 

Actiste® Diabetes Management as 
a Service (ADMS), as well as in new 
digital solutions. Investments are 
also made in tools and equipment 
for the production of Actiste®, as 
well as in patents and IP rights for 
the protection of both current and 
future offerings.

Covid-19 accelerates development.
The pandemic, which spread rap-
idly in 2020 and 2021, increased 
the burden on healthcare systems 
worldwide – even close to the 
breaking point in some cases. 
But while the crisis has exposed 
the existing problems of lack of 
resources and preparedness, 
it has also accelerated digital 
transformation in the health and 
care sectors. Decision makers are 
now showing a greater willingness 
to innovate, and are putting 
increased focus on the value of 
digital and connected devices, 
artificial intelligence, and digital 
services. This is both a response to 
the pandemic and a longer-term 

change. The use of digital and 
online care has increased in 
connection with the pandemic and 
the company believes that this is 
something that will continue.

The extraordinary situation with 
the pandemic in 2021 primarily 
affected the Company through 
missed or severely postponed 
opportunities to meet healthcare 
providers, diabetes specialists and 
other important decision-makers 
in countries where Brighter has 
wanted to sell its offering. This 
has also led to delays in certain 
go-to-market initiatives and missed 
marketing activities.

Sales.
During the year several important 
commercial milestones were 
reached for both Actiste® Diabetes 
Management as a Service (ADMS) 
and for our subsidiaries  
Nectarine Health.

When it comes to ADMS, Brighter 
continues focusing on several 
key markets in the Middle East, 
Southeast Asia and Africa while 
Nectarine Health is making 
progress in the US. 

Indonesia – a very exciting place for 
digital healthcare technology.
In Indonesia, we signed an 
agreement with and are working 
closely with Padjadjaran University 
to drive a research project where 
100 patients with diabetes will 
use Actiste® Mini for six months to 
monitor their blood glucose levels. 
The study is estimated to start in Q2 
2022. Brighter also signed a reseller 
agreement with Medico, the leading 
provider of cloud-based healthcare 
management systems in Indonesia. 
Medico also offers a telemedicine 
app for patients and wants to 
initially be able to offer Actiste® Mini 
to its patients. Brighter believes that 
Indonesia is a very exciting place for 
healthcare technology as the coun-
try’s technological development do 
not have rigid legacy systems slow-
ing down innovation, and there is 
an interest to leapfrog the adoption 
of smart solutions for health manage-
ment. In this area Brighter is working 
closely with Padjadjaran University 
to drive its research project in West 

Java, where the first patients with 
diabetes to use Actiste® Mini have 
been identified. Research studies 
like this are incredibly important, not 
only for the data they bring but also 
in terms of relationship building with 
academics, medical practitioners, 
business administrators and key 
opinion leaders. To strengthen 
relations and to introduce this 
important project, the Embassy of 
The Republic of Indonesia to Sweden 
hosted a ”hybrid” inauguration in the 
quarter. Erik Lissner (acting CEO of 
Brighter) attended from Sweden with 
the Indonesian Embassy, and Johan 
Möller (Brighter’s Head of Sales & 
Marketing) attended from Indonesia 
at Padjadjaran University. He was 
joined by the Dean of Padjadjaran 
University, the head of the West Java 
Health Agency, representatives from 
Medico, and staff from two hospitals. 
The Swedish ambassador to Indone-
sia attended virtually from Jakarta.

Sverige – all about verifying the service. 
IIn Sweden, Chronos Care received 
their first shipment of Actiste® Mini 
devices and started its proof-of-
concept trials and the company 
received positive results from the user 
trials on the west coast in Sweden. 
Brighter also signed an agreement 

with ViviBon, a Swedish service 
provider that offers a wide range of 
personalized services and solutions 
for seniors and their relatives, with 
the goal to increase the user base 
and gain valuable insights.

Commercializa-
tion in Qatar.
Early in the year Brighter signed 
a 5-year agreement with AlDanah 
Medical Company in Qatar. Since 
then, there has been an intense focus 
on the commercialization in Qatar, 
including meeting with key stakehold-
ers within healthcare, authorities and 
other important connections. In Q1 
2022 the launch of Actiste® Device 
Management as a Service in Qatar 
was announced and now focus is to 
build “Centers of Excellence ‘’ where 
care providers subscribe ADMS to 
its patients.

Progress in  
the United  
Arab Emirates.
The company is continuously 
working with established partners 
and initiated new discussions with 
several new key stakeholders within 
healthcare and authorities in the 
United Arab Emirates. Brighter also 
received a very welcome preliminary 
assessment from the UAE’s Ministry of 
Health and Prevention that Brighter’s 
Actiste® device is considered to fall 
within the “simple device” categori-
zation which means the data storage 
elements in Brighter’s Actiste® 
Diabetes Management Solution will 
be exempt from the current data 
localization requirements in the 
Health Data Law in the UAE. This will 
enable Brighter to store and process 
the data entered from Actiste® 
Diabetes Management Solution for 
users and patients who are based in 
the UAE.

Financing.
The commercialization of Actiste®, an 
ambitious plan for the development 
and expansion of Brighter’s business, 
and the work of Nectarine Health all 
require that the Group has sufficient 
working capital for inventory, build-  
up of production, and continued 
product development. Financing of 
the business is a very important part 
of the Group’s growth strategy and is 
a continuous part of the work within 
Group management. During the 
year, the Group received capital of 
SEK 161 million through new issues, 
but additional financing is required 
to complete the plan. In January 
2022, Brighter therefore closed a 
rights issue for units that provided 
the company with SEK 100 million, as 
well as a potential SEK 126.7 million 
more from warrants that can be 
exercised in June 2022, and another 
potential SEK 75 million in June 
2023. The rights issue including 
options is expected to – along with 
the company finding alternative 
sources of financing for Nectarine 
Health – finance the business for at 
least 12 months ahead. Furthermore, 
the Board and Group Management 
continuously work to evaluate 
financing alternatives for the Group 
in order to secure the funds and 
resources needed. Such alternatives 
include export financing, contract 
financing and advance payments 
from customers.
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Altered focus 
in Africa.
In September Brighter announced 
that it received notice from the 
company’s distribution partners 
Wssonlines Nigeria Ltd in Nigeria 
and Fretac Plus Ventures in Ghana 
(“the Distributors”) that they wish 
to renegotiate the distribution 
contracts in Nigeria and Ghana 
covering Actiste® and Actiste® Mini, 
which was originally announced on 
30 December 2020. It is anticipated 
by the company that the estimated 
revenues from such distribution 
agreements will either not materialize 
or will be substantially reduced. The 
activities in Ghana are now on hold 
to be able to focus the resources on 
more promising markets in the African 
region where the company has 
ongoing discussions with potential 
distributors for the Actiste® service.

Patents and new 
opportunities.
Besides receiving several different 
market approvals around the world 
for Actiste® and Actiste® Mini Brighter 
announced that its Actiste® device 
is compatible with a wider variety 
of insulin cartridges and now can 
support insulin cartridges from 
both Sanofi and BIOTON S.A. (also 
marketed by SciGen Pte. Ltd. – the 
exclusive distributor of BIOTON 
products, excluding Poland). This 
opens additional markets with new 
revenue opportunities worldwide 
for Actiste®. In Brazil, we received a 
patent for Actiste® to safely combine 
Medical Device Directive (MDD) and 
In-Vitro Diagnostics Directive (IVDD) 
functionality into one unit. This 
patent is a key step towards bringing 
the benefits of our diabetes-care 
solution to Brazil which can be an 
important future market for Brighter.

Financial performance for the 2021 financial year.

Income.
Net sales were TSEK 1,266 (1,665). 
Capitalized expenditures for 
development work were TSEK 40,016 
(54,261). Other operating income 
amounted to TSEK 2,453 (871) for 
the year.

Operating result.
Operating results for the full year 
2021 amounted to TSEK –185,480 
(–207,034). Better performance was 
achieved due to significantly lower 
costs. Staff costs were lower by 
TSEK 1,912 and other external costs 
were lower by TSEK 23,065 when 
compared to last year. The Group’s 
performance was also improved by 
lower depreciation and write-offs as 
compared to last year. Depreciation, 
amortization and write-offs were 
TSEK –55,748 (–57,536). 

Brighter contributed TSEK –154,596 
to the operating result while 
 Nectarine Health made up the rest.

Average headcount during the 
year was reduced to 79 (Full Time 
Equivalents, FTE). The number of 
FTE’s amounted to 55 employees and 
24 consultants.

Staff costs amounted to TSEK 
–58,704 (–60,616) of which Brighter 
comprised TSEK –31,096 and 
Nectarine resulted in the rest. 

Other external costs decreased 
and amounted to TSEK –106,554 
(–129,619) for the year.

Financial position.
Capitalized expenditure for 
development work during the period 
amounted to TSEK 40,016 (54,261), 
of which TSEK 19,249 relates to the 
development in Brighter, TSEK 20,767 
relates to Nectarine Health.

Book value of capitalized expenditure 
totaled TSEK 135,281 (162,309). 
Patents and trademarks were TSEK 
8,251 (7,396). The total intangible 
assets are TSEK 143,532 (179,711) 
of which TSEK 86,518 relates to 
Brighter and the rest to Nectarine 
Health. Book value of property, plant 
and equipment totaled TSEK 25,844 
(34,957) of which equipment tools 
and installations in use were TSEK 
15,060 (19,971). Right-of-use assets 
relating to the rental and leasing 
agreements for other assets held 
by the Group were TSEK 10,784 
(14,986). 

The sale of Brighter’s shares in 
Accumbo AB was accomplished 
during the quarter, reducing the book 
value of financial assets to TSEK 
2,612 (11,616). 

Inventory amounted to TSEK 26,278 
(9,035) of which TSEK 23,060 
relates to Brighter and the rest to 
Nectarine Health.

Nectarine Health making progress 
in the US.
In addition, Brighter’s subsidiary 
Nectarine Health, began extending 
its friendly user trials in the U.S. in 
mid-July, with the aim to receive 
further feedback on the latest version 
of Nectarine Health™ at Home and 
to receive additional data points 
on “activities of daily living”. Users 
could also continue with the service 
and buy Nectarine Health™ at Home 
at a discount. Another essential step 
towards the commercialization plan 
in the U.S has been the publishing 
of price levels for Nectarine Health’s 
solution which contributes to our 
long-term vision to provide an 
affordable solution that supports 
aging at home. In the second half of 
the year Nectarine Health worked on 
developing a managed-care solution 
with Solutionology Health that is 
Medicare-reimbursable. The primary 
purpose is to make senior care more 
affordable and accessible. 

In November 2021, Solutionology 
Health successfully billed Centers 
for Medicare & Medicaid Services 
for a select number of users who 
now enjoy the benefits of Nectarine 
Health product and managed-care 
service. This proof of concept is a 
major step forward in the commercial 
efforts. Furthermore, in December 
2021, Nectarine Health completed 
its first commercial transaction 
with Peace of Mind Aging LLC, by 
introducing subscription payments 
to its current end-user trial. This 
means that Nectarine Health now 
can earn recurring revenues for new 
users who are added to the trial. Even 
though the amounts may remain low 
at the beginning, this is an important 
milestone for the business as this first 
signed commercial agreement brings 
Nectarine Health into the next stage 
of its commercialization.
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Total current receivables, 
TSEK 43,583 (96,322) are primarily 
made up of prepayments to 
Sanmina, for production of Actiste® 
devices of TSEK 42,639 (79,840). 

At the end of the year the Group had 
equity of TSEK 206,553 (252,023), an 
equity ratio of 77% (74%). 

The Group’s long-term interest 
bearing debt of TSEK 6,571 (8,548) 
relates mainly to a loan for Brighter.

Cash flow.
At the start of the year, the Group 
had cash of TSEK 7,276 (9,340), 
increasing to TSEK 26,896 (7,276) by 
the end of the period. 

Cash flow from operating activities 
of continuing operations amounted 
to TSEK –107,137 (–193,797). Invest-
ments amounted to TSEK -22,983 
(–102,153) of which investment of 
TSEK –38,028 (–54,272) in intangible 
assets and TSEK –22 (–11,916) in 
property, plant and equipment. 

Financing of TSEK 154,602 (290,764) 
after costs was raised during the 
year through share issues as well as 
loans from third parties. 

Total cash flow for continuing 
operations for the period amounted 
to TSEK 19,620 (–2,063). Total cash 
flow for discontinued operations for 
the period amounted to TSEK –4,862 
(3,123).

Legal actions and 
processes in 2021.
On August 11, 2021, Brighter (the 
Company) initiated legal action 
against Unwrap Finance Nordic AB 
(“Unwrap”) to enforce the payment 
of debts that Unwrap owes the 
Company. This is linked to potential 
receivables mentioned by the Com-
pany’s auditor in the 2020 annual 
report regarding an investment made 
in certain debt certificates issued 
by Unwrap. Unwrap has contested 
the claim mainly on formal grounds. 
Brighter maintains its position. 

On September 29, 2021, the 
Company received a lawsuit from its 
founder and former chairman, Truls 
Sjöstedt, who claims that he has 
suffered losses in relation to Brighter 
shares that he reportedly lent to 
Unwrap. The company disputes the 
claim and the facts relied on it. 

 On December 16, 2021, the 
Company became aware of another 
lawsuit from Truls Sjöstedt regarding 
the termination of his employment 
contract in May 2021. The Company 
considers the lawsuit application as 
unfounded and disputes it.

Sustainability.
Through its products and services, 
Brighter addresses sustainability on 
several levels: partly from an environ-
mental and ecosystem perspective 
regarding production, logistics 
and waste, but also from a broader 
economic and social perspective. 
Approximately half of Sweden’s 
population has one or more chronic 
diseases and this group accounts 
for approximately 85% of healthcare 
expenditure (statement by SKL in 
Dagens Industri 15 March 2019). 
Across the EU, chronic diseases 
account for between 70% and 80% 
of total healthcare costs. Resource 
optimization in the treatment of 
chronic diseases could free up 
significant resources and create a 
more efficient healthcare system, 
which in the long run enables a more 
sustainable society. Brighter’s sub-
scription-based sales model provides 
increased control over and insight 
into the entire product life cycle, 
the patient’s actual compliance to 
treatment recommendations, and 
resource consumption regarding the 
patient’s use of consumables. 

Actiste® Diabetes Management as 
a Service has also been designed 
for insulin refills, which opens up for 
free choice of different price levels 
for insulin in different parts of the 
world. Brighter stands behind the 
UN’s Global Goals for Sustainable 
Development within the framework 
of Agenda 2030 and specifically 
embraces Goal 3: to ensure healthy 
lives and promote well-being for 
all, and the sub-goal of reducing 
the number of people who die 
prematurely through the lack of 
preventive measures and treatment 
for non-communicable diseases like 
diabetes. To succeed in achieving the 
Goals, Brighter believes that we need 
to set the right conditions through 
extensive cooperation between 
governments and companies, in com-
bination with smart digital solutions.

Significant events after the period.
• Brighter announces commercial 

launch and availability of Actiste® 
in Qatar.

• Brighter signs a Memorandum 
of Understanding with Emirates 
Health Services in the United 
Arab Emirates with the intention 
to jointly roll out an Actiste® user 
experience study.

• Brighter signs an agreement in 
the UK for clinical research with 
insulin-treated diabetes patients.

• Brighter’s subsidiary Nectarine 
Health signs agreement with 
Dynamark Monitoring Inc to 
procure personal emergency 
response services for Nectarine 
Health™ at Home.

• Brighter’s rights issue is subscribed 
to at 85.4%. This means the com-
pany will receive approximately 
SEK 100 million before issue costs.

• The Nomination Committee of 
Brighter AB proposes Johnny 
Ludvigsson, one of the world’s top 
ten experts and researchers on 
type 1 diabetes, as a new board 
member of Brighter AB.

• Brighter extends agreement with 
Erik Lissner for his role as acting 
CEO. Lissner agrees to permanent 
employment as CEO of Brighter 
from June 16.

• Acting CFO Christopher Robinson 
takes on a permanent role as CFO 
of Brighter.

• Brighter changes Certified Adviser 
to Mangold Fondkommission AB.

• Mangold Insight begins monitoring 
Brighter and publishes an initial 
analysis Årsstämma 2022. 

Future financial reports.
Interim Report Q1 2022 4 May 2022

Interim Report Q2 2022 10 August 2022

Interim Report Q3 2022 9 November 2022

Annual General 
Meeting 2022.
The Brighter AB Annual General 
Meeting will be held on May 5, in the 
company’s premises at Borgarfjords-
gatan 18, Kista. The agenda will 
be available to read as part of the 
 invitation on the company website.

Proposed allocation 
of net profit/loss.
The board proposes that no 
share dividend be paid for the 
financial year and the disposable 
funds should be appropriated as 
below (TSEK):

Share premium reserve 866 017 483
Profit/Loss carried forward 
 –509 958 894
Profit/Loss for the year 
 –234 593 035

Total 121 465 554

Carried forward as transfer  
to a new account 121 465 554

For information regarding the 
earnings and position in general, 
refer to the following income state-
ment, balance sheet and cash flow 
statement, and their notes below. 
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Financial Statements.

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
TSEK Note Jan–Dec 2021 Jan–Dec 2020

Continuing OPERATIONS

Net sales 23 1 266 1 665

Capitalized expenditure for development work 40 016 54 261

Other operating income 4 2 453 871

Total 43 735 56 797

Raw materials and consumables –6 284 –1 251

Other external costs 7 –106 554 –129 619

Staff costs 6 –58 704 –60 616

Depreciation/amortization and write-offs of tangible and intangible assets 5, 25 –55 748 –57 536

Other operating costs 4 –1 924 –14 809

Operating result –185 480 –207 034

Other financial income 1 700 4 048

Result from participation in subsidiaries & associated companies –6 095 –15 297

Financial expenses –20 005 –2 224

Net financial items 8 –24 400 –13 473

Result from continuing operations before tax –209 880 –220 507

Income tax 0 0

Net result from continuing operations –209 880 –220 507

Net result from discontinued operations 22 –561 –23 645

Net result for the period –210 442 –244 152

Other comprehensive income:

Translation differences on foreign operations 4 095 670

Total comprehensive income for the period –206 347 –243 482

Attributable to the parent company’s shareholders –206 347 –243 482

Consolidated statement of financial position. 
TSEK Note Dec 31 2021 Dec 31 2020

Capitalized expenditure for development work  135 281 162 309

Concessions patents licenses trademarks and similar rights  8 251 7 396

Goodwill  0 10 007

Total intangible assets 11 143 532 179 711

Equipment tools and installations  15 060 19 971

Right-of-use assets 5 10 784 14 986

Total property plant and equipment  25 844 34 957

Other long-term securities  16 965 9 969

Other long-term receivables 16 1 647 1 647

Total financial assets 2 612 11 616

Total fixed assets  171 988 226 284

Inventories 13 26 278 9 035

Total inventories  26 278 9 035

Accounts receivable 14, 16 409 2 524

Current tax assets 0 3 586

Other current receivables 15 42 639 79 840

Prepayments and accrued income  17 536 10 372

Total current receivables  43 583 96 322

Cash and cash equivalents 16, 24 26 896 7 276

Total current assets 96 757 112 633

TOTAL ASSETS 23 268 745 338 917

TSEK Not Dec 31 2021 Dec 31 2020

Share capital 20 19 516 11 450

Other contributed equity 866 017 713 205

Retained earnings –678 980 –472 632

Total Equity 24 206 553 252 023

Total equity attributable to the parent company’s shareholders 206 553 252 023

Long term interest bearing debt 16, 24 6 571 8 548

Other long term liabilities 0 0

Total long term liabilities 8, 24 6 571 8 548

Accounts payable 7, 16, 19 8 273 27 664

Other interest bearing debt 8, 16, 19, 24 31 609 32 816

Accrued tax liabilities 762 2 619

Other current liabilities 2 894 354

Accruals and deferred income 28 12 082 14 892

Total current liabilities 55 621 78 346

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 268 745 338 917
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity.

TSEK
Share 

capital

Other 
contributed 

equity

Result carried 
forward (including  

result for the period) Total equity

Balance at January 1 2020 4 806 432 120 –229 150 207 776

Result for the period   –244 152 –244 152

Translation differences on foreign operations   670 670

Total comprehensive income   –243 482 –243 482

Transactions with shareholders     

New issues for cash 6 531 270 357  276 888

New issues for non-cash consideration 113 12 852  12 965

Issue costs  –2 124  –2 124

Total transactions with shareholders 6 644 281 085 0 287 729

Balance at December 31 2020 11 450 713 205 –472 632 252 023

Balance at January 1 2021 11 450 713 205 –472 632 252 023

Result for the period   –210 442 –210 442

Translation differences on foreign operations   4 095 4 095

Total comprehensive income   –206 347 –206 347

Transactions with shareholders

New issues for cash 5 916 136 059  141 975

New issues for non-cash consideration 2 150 42 546  44 696

Issue costs  –25 794  –25 794

Total transactions with shareholders 8 065 152 811 0 160 877

Balance at December 31 2021 19 515 866 016 –678 979 206 553

Consolidated statement of cash flows.
TSEK Note Jan–Dec 2021 Jan–Dec 2020

Continuing operations

Operating results –185 480 –207 034

Adjustment for items not included in the cash flow 25 51 354 62 416

Interest received 1 700 5

Interest paid –5 941 –182

Cash flow from operating activities before change in working capital –138 368 –144 795

Increase/decrease in inventories –18 289 –25 805

Increase/decrease in operating receivables 19 656 –17 079

Increase/decrease in operating liabilities 29 864 –6 118

Total changes in working capital 31 231 –49 002

Cash flow from operating activities –107 137 –193 797

Investments in intangible assets –38 028 –54 272

Disposals/amortization of other financial tangible assets 5 009 0

Investments in property plant and equipment –22 –11 916

Increase/decrease short-term financial assets 12 158 –35 965

Investment in financial assets –2 100 0

Cash flow from investing activities –22 983 –102 153

Loans 44 695 0

New share issues and warrants 141 976 276 888

New share issue costs –25 794 –2 124

Amortization of debts and loans received/paid –3 015 16 000

Increase/decrease short-term financial liabilities –3 260 0

Cash flow from financing activities 154 602 290 764

Cash flow from continuing operations 24 482 –5 186

Cash flow from discontinued operations 22 –4 862 3 123

Cash flow for the period 19 620 –2 063

Opening cash and cash equivalents 7 276 9 340

Closing cash and cash equivalents 26 896 7 276

Discontinued operations

Cash flow from operating activities –15 244 –15 091

Cash flow from investing activities –10 879 –12 190

Cash flow from financing activities 21 261 30 404

Group total

Cash flow from operating activities –122 381 –208 888

Cash flow from investing activities –33 862 –114 343

Cash flow from financing activities 175 863 321 168

Cash flow Group 19 620 –2 063
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
– Parent Co.
TSEK Note Jan–Dec 2021 Jan–Dec 2020

Sales 63 10

Capitalized production costs 19 249 27 254

Other operating income 1 016 735

Total operating income 20 328 27 999

Other external costs –89 479 –104 219

Staff costs –27 785 –27 281

Depreciation/amortization of tangible and intangible assets –50 874 –53 014

Other operating costs –621 –10 173

Total operating costs –168 759 –194 687

Operating result –148 431 –166 688

Resultat from participation in subsidiaries & associated companies –21 534 0

Other interest income and similar income 1 606 3 561

Interest expenses and similar expenses 5 –66 235 –53 576

Total result from financial items –64 628 –50 015

Result after financial items –234 593 –216 703

Appropriations 0 0

Tax on result for the period 0 0

Result for the period –234 593 –216 703

Consolidated statement of financial position – Parent Co.
TSEK Note Dec 31 2021 Dec 31 2020

Capitalized expenditure for development work  78 266 105 989

Concessions patents licenses trademarks and similar rights  8 251 7 337

Total intangible assets 11 86 518 113 326

Equipment tools and installations 12 14 927 18 712

Total property plant and equipment 14 927 18 712

Shares in Group companies 30 10 693 70 040

Other long-term securities  965 9 960

Other long-term receivables  1 647 1 647

Total financial assets  13 305 81 647

Total fixed assets  114 749 213 684

Inventories 23 060 8 895

Total inventories  23 060 8 895

Accounts receivable  0 0

Receivable on subsidiary  53 318 34 420

Prepaid/income taxes recoverable 1 270 3 411

Other receivables 15 41 788 79 790

Prepayments and accrued income 536 7 290

Total current receivables  96 912 122 912

Cash at bank and in hand  26 227 597

Total current assets  146 200 132 404

TOTAL ASSETS  260 949 346 088

TSEK Not Dec 31 2021 Dec 31 2020

Share capital 19 516 11 450

Development expenses fund 78 266 105 989

Restricted equity 97 782 117 439

Share premium 866 017 713 205

Result carried forward –509 959 –320 979

Result for the period –234 593 –216 703

Unrestricted equity 121 466 175 523

Total equity 219 247 292 962

Accounts payable 5 942 19 388

Other interest bearing debt 19 27 173 26 250

Other liabilities 1 127 1 020

Accruals and deferred income 7 459 6 467

Total current liabilities 41 701 53 125

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 260 949 346 088
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Parent company statement of changes in equity.

TSEK
Share 

capital

Develop ment 
expenses 

fund
Share 

premium
Retained 
earnings

Profit/loss 
for the year

Total share-
holders’ 
equity

Balance brought forward,  
January 1, 2020 4 805 109 978 432 120 –241 522 –83 446 221 935

Cash issues 6 531 270 357 276 888

Non-cash issue 113 12 852 12 965

Issue costs –2 124 –2 124

Appropriated as resolved  
by the AGM –83 446 83 446 0

Development expenses fund –3 990 3 990 0

Profit/loss for the year –216 703 –216 703

Closing balance,  
December 31, 2020 11 449 105 988 713 205 –320 978 –216 703 292 961

Balance brought forward,  
January 1, 2020 11 449 105 988 713 205 –320 978 –216 703 292 961

Cash issues 5 916 136 060 141 976

Non-cash issues 2 150 42 546 44 696

Issue costs –25 794 –25 794

Appropriated as resolved  
by the AGM –216 703 217 703 0

Development expenses fund –27 723 27 723 0

Profit/loss for the year –234 593 –234 593

Closing balance,  
December 31, 2021 19 515 78 266 866 017 –509 959 –234 593 219 246

Parent company statement of cash flows.
TSEK Note 2021 2020

Operating profit/loss –148 431 –166 688

Adjustment for items not included in cash flow 25 50 874 62 704

Interest received 4 466 0

Interest paid –66 158 –182

Cash flow from operating activities before changes in working capital –159 249 –104 166

Increase/decrease in inventories –14 165 –13 777

Increase/decrease in customer receivables 977 0

Increase/decrease in operating receivables 52 449 –76 247

Increase/decrease in accounts payable 0 0

Increase/decrease in operating liabilities –12 424 1 042

Total change in working capital 26 837 –88 982

Cash flow from operating activities –132 412 –193 148

     

Investments in intangible assets –20 258 –28 694

Investments in property, plant and equipment –22 –8 760

Sold shares in subsidiary 11 513 0

Investment in group companies 0 –30 606

Investment in financial assets 0 –35 965

Divestment of other financial assets 5 009 0

Cash flow from investment activities –3 758 –104 025

Loans raised 26 923 16 000

New share issues and warrants 141 975 276 888

Non-cash issues 44 696 0

New share issue costs –25 794 –2 124

Cash flow from financing activities 161 800 290 764

Cash flow for the period 25 630 –6 409

Opening cash and cash equivalents 597 7 006

Closing cash and cash equivalents 26 227 597
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Notes to financial statements.

Note 1. Accounting principles.
Summary of significant accounting policies. 
The most significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of these 
consolidated accounts are set out below. These policies have been consistently 
applied to all years presented, unless otherwise stated. Unless otherwise 
indicated the information applies to both the Parent Company and the Group. 

1.1. Basis for the preparation of the statements.
The consolidated financial statements for Brighter have been prepared in 
accordance with Årsredovisningslagen [the Swedish Annual Accounts Act], 
RFR 1 Supplementary Accounting Rules for Corporate Groups, as well as the 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the interpretations of 
the IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRS IC) as adopted by the EU. 

The consolidated accounts have been produced in accordance with IFRS. 
The consolidated accounts have been produced in accordance with the cost 
method. 

Preparing statements in compliance with IFRS requires the use of certain signif-
icant estimates for accounting purposes. Management is also required to make 
certain assessments in connection with the application of the consolidated 
accounting policies. The areas that entail a high degree of assessment, which 
are complex or of such a nature that assumptions and estimates are critical to 
the consolidated accounts, are specified in note 4.

The Parent Company applies RFR 2 Accounting for Legal Entities and the 
Swedish Annual Accounts Act. Under RFR 2, the Parent Company is required 
to apply all EU– adopted IFRS and interpretations in the interim report for 
the legal entity insofar as this is possible under the Swedish Annual Accounts 
Act, the Pension Obligations Vesting Act and with regard to the relationship 
between accounting and taxation. 

Preparing statements in compliance with RFR 2 requires the use of certain 
significant estimates for accounting purposes. The management team is also 
required to make certain assessments in connection with application of the 
Parent Company’s accounting policies. The areas that entail a high degree 
of assessment, which are complex or of such a nature that assumptions and 
estimates are material to the annual report, are specified in note 4. 

The Parent Company applies different accounting policies to the Group in the 
cases stated below:

Layout.
The income statement and balance sheet are compliant with the layout 
stipulated in the Swedish Annual Accounts Act. Differences also arise in 
relation to designations, in comparison with the consolidated accounts, mainly 
concerning financial income/expense and equity.

Shares in Group companies. 
Shares in subsidiaries are recognized as the acquisition cost less any 
impairment. The acquisition cost includes any costs related to the acquisition 
and any additional purchase considerations. A calculation of the recoverable 

amount is undertaken in the event of an indicator of impairment of shares in 
a Group company. Should the recoverable amount be lower than the carrying 
amount, impairment is made. Impairments are recognized in “Profit from 
shares in Group companies”.

Financial instruments.
IFRS 9 is not applied in the parent company and financial instruments are 
valued at cost value. Financial assets acquired for short–term holding will in 
subsequent periods be recognized at the lower of acquisition cost and market 
value. The convertible debt instruments are valued at amortized cost.

Development expenses fund. 
The parent company allocates the same amount to the fund for development 
expenses as are capitalized such as intangible non current assets developed 
by the company. The development fund is then reduced when the capitalized 
asset is depreciated, written down or divested.

Appropriations.
Group contributions are recognized as appropriations.

1.2. Consolidated financial statement.
1.2.2. Basic accounting policies Subsidiaries. 
Subsidiaries are all companies over which the Group has a controlling 
influence. The Group controls a company when it is exposed or entitled to 
a variable return from its holdings in the Company and is able to influence 
the return through its influence over the company. Subsidiary companies are 
included in the consolidated statements from the date the controlling interest 
is transferred to the group. They are excluded from the consolidated financial 
statements as of the date on which the controlling influence ceases. 

The purchase method is used for reporting the Group’s business combinations. 
The purchase price for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair value of the 
transferred assets, the liabilities assumed by the Group to the former owners 
of the acquired company, and the shares issued by the Group. The purchase 
price also includes the fair value of all the liabilities that result from a contin-
gent purchase price agreement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values 
on the acquisition date. For each acquisition (i.e. acquisition by acquisition) 
the Group determines whether its holdings in the acquired company that do 
not confer control are reported at fair value or as their proportional share of 
the recognized value of the acquired company’s identifiable net assets. 

Intra–Group transactions, balance sheet items, and revenue and expenses 
from transactions between Group companies are eliminated. Gains and losses 
resulting from intra–Group transactions that are recognized in assets are also 
eliminated. Where applicable, the accounting policies of subsidiaries have 
been amended to guarantee a consistent application of the Group’s principles.

Associated companies. 
Associated companies are all companies where the group has a significant but 
not controlling influence, which as a rule applies for shareholdings of between 
20 and 50% of the voting rights. Holdings in associated companies are recog-
nized according to the equity method. In accordance with the equity method, 
holdings in associated companies are initially recognized at cost in the 
consolidated balance sheet. The carrying amount is subsequently increased 
or decreased to reflect the Group’s share of the profit from its associated 
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companies after the acquisition date. The Group’s share of profit is included in 
consolidated profit. Dividends from associated companies are recognized as a 
reduction in the carrying amount of the investment. 

When the Group’s share of losses in an associated company is the same 
amount as or exceeds the holding in this associated company (including 
all long–term receivables that in reality comprise part of the Group’s net 
investment in this associated company), the Group no longer recognizes any 
additional losses unless the Group has undertaken to pay or made payments 
on behalf of the associated company. 

Unrealized gains on transactions between the Group and its associated 
company are eliminated in relation to the Group’s holding in the associated 
company. Unrealized losses are also eliminated, unless the transaction con-
stitutes an indication of an impairment requirement in the transferred asset. 
The accounting policies for associated companies have been adjusted, where 
applicable, to ensure consistency with the Group’s accounting policies.

Redovisningsprinciperna för intresseföretag har justerats om nödvändigt för 
att säkerställa överensstämmelse med koncernens redovisningsprinciper.

1.3. Translation of foreign currency. 
Working currency and reporting currency.
The different units of the Group, where such exist, have the local currency as 
their working currency, as the local currency has been defined as the currency 
used in the primary economic environment in which the unit mainly operates. 
The consolidated statements are reported in Swedish kronor (SEK), the parent 
company’s working currency and the group reporting currency.

Transactions and balance sheet items. 
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the working currency at the 
exchange rates that apply on the transaction date. Foreign exchange gains 
and losses arising from payment of such transactions and upon translation of 
monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies at closing date rates are 
recognized in the statement of comprehensive income. 

Foreign exchange gains and losses relating to loans and cash and cash 
equivalents are recognized as financial income or financial expenses in the 
statement of comprehensive income. All other foreign exchange gains and 
losses are recognized in the items “Other operating costs” and “Other operat-
ing income” respectively in the statement of comprehensive income.

1.4. Revenue recognition 
The group only has limited sales of products and services to external customers 
today. The group provides services on a limited scale in the form of consultant 
services at a fixed price or cost contract. Interest revenue. Interest income is 
recognized using the effective interest method.

1.5. Leasing. 
Leasing agreements are recognized as right of use using a corresponding 
liability, the day the leased asset is at the disposal of the group. Assets and 
liabilities arising from leasing agreements are initially reported at their present 
value. Lease liabilities include the present value of the following lease payments: 

• Fixed charges after deductions for possible benefits in association with 
signing the lease that is to be obtained.

• Amounts that are expected to be paid by the lessee in accordance with the 
guaranteed residual value.

• The strike price for an option to buy if the group is reasonably certain 
of exercising such an opportunity. Lease payments that will be made to 
reasonably secure extension options are also included in the valuation of 
the liability.

Lease payments are discounted by the group’s marginal loan interest. The 
group has exposure to possible future increases in variable lease payments 
based on an index or interest, that are not included in the lease liability until 
they come into force. When adjustments to lease payments based on an index 
or interest come into force, the lease liability is revalued against the right 
of use. Lease payments are allocated between amortization of the liability 
and interest.

Assets with right of use are valued at acquisition value and include the 
following:

• The amount the lease liability was originally valued at

• Lease charges that are paid on or before the start date

• Charges to reinstate the asset to the condition as described in the lease 
terms and conditions

Right of use assets are usually depreciated linearly over the shorter of the 
usage period and leasing period. The group applies the exception that allows 
short term leases not to be reported as leases with low underlying asset values. 
These leases are depreciated linearly.

1.6. Remuneration to employees.
Short–term remuneration of employees.
Liabilities for salaries and remuneration, including non–monetary benefits and 
paid leave, which are expected to be settled within 12 months of the end of the 
financial year, are recognized as current liabilities at the undiscounted amount 
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. The expense is recognized 
as the services are rendered by the employees. The liabilities are recognized 
as an obligation regarding remuneration to employees in the statement of 
financial position.

Remuneration after concluded employment.
The Group companies only have defined contribution pension plans. A defined 
contribution pension plan is a pension plan under which the Group pays fixed 
contributions into a separate legal entity. The Group has no legal or informal 
obligations to pay further contributions if this legal entity does not have 
sufficient assets to pay all employee benefits associated with the employees’ 
service in current or prior periods. The contributions are recognized as a cost 
in the profit and loss for the year at the rate they are earned by employees 
providing service to the company during the period.

1.7. Current and deferred income tax. 
The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is 
reported in the income statement, except when the tax refers to items reported 
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In such cases, the tax is 
also reported in other comprehensive income and equity respectively 
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Current tax is calculated on the taxable profit/loss for the period at the 
applicable tax rate. The current tax expense is calculated on the basis of the 
tax regulations enacted or substantively enacted on the balance sheet date 
in the countries where the Parent Company and its subsidiaries operate and 
generate taxable income. Management regularly evaluates positions taken in 
tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are 
subject to interpretation. When deemed appropriate, provisions are made for 
amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities. 

Deferred tax is recognized on all temporary differences arising between 
the taxable value of assets and liabilities and their reported values in the 
consolidated accounts. Nor is deferred tax recognized if it arises as a result 
of a transaction that constitutes the initial recognition of an asset or liability 
in a business acquisition that, at the time of the transaction, affects neither 
the accounting nor the taxable profit. Deferred tax is calculated applying tax 
rates (and legislation) determined or announced on the balance sheet date 
and which are expected to apply when the deferred tax assets in question are 
realized or the deferred tax liability is settled. 

Deferred tax claims are recognized in the extent there is likely to be future 
taxable surpluses available, against which temporary differences can be 
utilized. See note 10 for group tax claims. For precautionary purposes, these 
are not recognized as assets in the balance sheet, as there is uncertainty over 
the time frame in which they may be expected to be used. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legal right to offset 
current tax assets and tax liabilities, and when the deferred tax assets and tax 
liabilities relate to taxes charged by the same tax authority and relate to either 
the same tax subject or a different tax subject and there is an intention to 
settle the balances through net payments.

1.8. Intangible assets. 
Capitalized expenditure for development work. 
Development costs that are directly attributable to the development of Actiste 
and other development costs related to Actiste or otherwise, are recognized as 
intangible assets when the following criteria are met: 

• it is technically feasible to complete the products so that they are ready 
for use; 

• it is technically feasible to complete them so that they will be available for 
use or for sale; 

• the conditions are in place to use or sell them; 

• it can be shown they will generate probable future financial benefits, and 
that adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the 
development and to use or sell them are available, and 

• the expenditure attributable to them during their development can be 
reliably measured.

Directly attributable costs that are capitalized as part of the development work 
for Actiste include costs for employees and fees for external consultants. 

Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognized 
as an expense as they are incurred. Development costs that have been 
previously expensed are not capitalized in subsequent periods. 

Capitalized development expenditure is recognized as intangible assets and 
amortization takes place from the time when the asset is ready to be used. 

The need for the impairment of development expenses is tested on the basis of 
future benefit. Sensitivity analyses are carried out of the calculation of value in 
use in conjunction with impairment testing. For further information, please see 
note 11.

Patents.
Patents that have been acquired separately are recognized at the acquisition 
cost. Patents carry a fixed useful life and are recognized at the acquisition cost 
less accumulated amortization and impairment. Patents are amortized from the 
time that they start to be used.

Trademarks. 
Trademarks that have been acquired separately are recognized at the 
acquisition cost. Trademarks are assumed to have a fixed useful life and are 
recognized at the acquisition cost less accumulated amortization. 

The useful lives for the Group’s intangible assets are assessed on a case by 
case basis, based on their estimated life; primarily within the time periods 
given below.

Capitalized expenditure for development work  2–15 years

Patents  10–20 years

Trademarks  10 years

1.9. Property, plant and equipment.
Property, plant and equipment is recognized at cost less accumulated depre-
ciation as well as any impairment loss. The acquisition cost includes costs 
directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset and to put it in place and in 
the right condition for the use for which it was acquired. 

Additional expenses are added to the carrying amount of the asset or 
recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that 
the future economic benefits associated with the asset will accrue to the Group 
and the cost of the asset can be reliably measured. The carrying amount of 
a replaced part is removed from the statement of financial position. All other 
forms of repairs and maintenance are recognized as expenses in the statement 
of comprehensive income in the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is carried out on a straight–line basis over the estimated period of 
use, after deducting the estimated residual value of the asset. 

The useful lives are as follows: 

Equipment, tools and installations  3–5 years 

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if 
necessary, at the end of each reporting period. 

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable 
amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable 
amount. 

Gains and losses on disposals of property, plant and equipment are 
determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are 
recognized within “Other operating income” and “Other operating expenses” 
in the statement of comprehensive income.
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1.10. Impairments of non–financial assets. 
Intangible assets that have an indeterminate usage period or intangible assets 
that are not ready for use (capitalized expenditure for development work), 
are not depreciated and instead evaluated annually with regard to possible 
impairment needs. Assets that are subject to depreciation are reviewed for 
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized 
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable 
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs 
of disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets 
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are largely independent cash 
inflows (cash–generating units). In the case of assets that have been written 
down earlier, an evaluation is done as of the balance date whether a reversal 
should be done.

1.11. Financial instruments – general.
Classification.
All financial instruments are reported at fair value on the first reporting 
occasion. After the first reporting occasion, financial assets are valued either at 
accrued acquisition value, fair value via the income statement or fair value via 
other comprehensive income. Which category a financial asset is classified in 
is dictated by the company’s business model partly by which contract related 
cash flow the company will receive from the financial asset. 

The group classifies its financial assets and liabilities in the category accrued 
acquisition value.

Financial assets at accrued acquisition value.
Assets that are held for the purpose of drawing contractual cash flow and 
where such cash flow only comprises capital sums and interest are valued at 
accrued acquisition value. The reported value of these assets is adjusted for 
possible expected credit losses that are reported (see impairment below). Inter-
est income from these financial assets are reported using the effective interest 
method and included in financial income. Group financial assets that are 
valued at accrued acquisition value consist of items: non current receivables, 
accounts receivable and cash and cash equivalents. 

Accounts receivable.
Accounts receivable are financial instruments that consist of amounts due 
from customers for goods and services sold as part of operating activities. If 
payment is expected within 12 months, they are classified as current assets If 
not, they are recognized as non current assets. 

Other receivables.
In addition to accounts receivables, there are also other receivables that are 
reported at accrued acquisition value. Such receivables are classified as 
current receivables if they fall due for payment within 12 months from the time 
of reporting, otherwise they are classified as non current receivables. 

Cash and cash equivalents.
Cash and cash equivalents include, both in the statement of financial position 
and in the statement of cash flow, cash in hand and bank deposits. 

Financial liabilities at accrued acquisition value.
Group financial liabilities are valued on the first reporting occasion at accrued 
acquisition value applying the effective interest method. Financial liabilities 
are classified as current liabilities if they fall due for payment within 12 months 
from the time of reporting, otherwise they are classified as non current liabil-
ities. Group financial liabilities that are valued at accrued acquisition value 
consist of items: accounts payable, other liabilities and financial loan liabilities 
(the debt part of convertible debt instruments). 

Borrowing.
Borrowing is recognized initially at fair value, net of transaction costs. 
Borrowing is subsequently recognized at accrued acquisition value and any 
difference between the amount received (net of transaction costs) and the 
amount repayable is recognized in the statement of comprehensive income 
over the term of the loan by applying the effective interest method. 

This liability is classified as a current liability in the statement of financial 
position unless the Group has an unconditional right to postpone payment of 
the debt for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. 

Borrowing is removed from the statement of financial position when obligations 
have been settled, annulled or has otherwise expired. The difference between 
the carrying amount of a financial liability (or a portion of a financial liability) 
that has been extinguished or transferred to another party and the compen-
sation that has been paid, including transfers of assets that are not cash or 
assumed liabilities, is recognized in profit or loss for the period.

Convertible debt instruments.
The combined financial instruments issued by the group comprise convertible 
debt instruments that the holder can have converted into shares and where the 
number of shares to be issued does not vary with changes in the fair value of 
the shares. 

The fair value of the liability increment of a convertible debt instrument is cal-
culated using a discount interest rate that comprises the market interest rate 
of a debt with the same terms but without the right to be converted into shares. 
The amount is recognized as a liability at amortized cost up until the time that 
the debt is converted or expires. The right to convert is initially recognized as 
the difference between fair value for the entire combined financial instrument 
and the fair value of the liability element. This is recognized in shareholders’ 
equity net of tax. Any directly attributable transaction costs are allocated to 
the respective liability and shareholders’ equity components in proportion with 
their initial carrying amounts. 

Accounts payable.
Accounts payable are financial instruments and relate to obligations to pay for 
goods and services acquired in operating activities from suppliers. If payment 
is expected to be made within 12 months, they are classified as current 
liabilities, if not they are recognized as non current liabilities.

1.11.1 Impairment of financial assets.
The group anticipates future expected credit losses that are linked to assets 
recognized at accrued acquisition value. The group reports a credit provision 
for such anticipated credit losses on each reporting date. For accounts 
receivable, the group applies the simplified approach for credit provisions, i.e. 
the provision should correspond to the anticipated loss over the entire length 
of the account receivable. To measure the anticipated credit losses, accounts 
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receivable are grouped based on allocated credit risk characteristics and days 
overdue. The anticipated credit loss levels are based on the loss history of 
customers. Historic losses are adjusted to take into account current and future 
oriented information on macro economic factors that can affect customers’ 
possibilities of paying the claim. The historic loss level is adjusted based on 
anticipated changes in these factors. 

Offsetting financial instruments. Financial assets and liabilities are offset and 
recognized net in the statement of financial position, only when there is a legal 
right to offset the recognized amounts and the intention is to settle them as a 
net amount or simultaneously realize the asset and settle the liability.

1.12. Inventories.
Inventories are recognized at the lower of acquisition cost and net realizable 
value, whereby the FIFO principle is applied. The net realizable value is the esti-
mated selling price in the ongoing course of business, less applicable variable 
selling expenses. The acquisition cost for work in progress comprises materials, 
direct pay and other direct expenses. Borrowing costs are not included. 

1.13. Share capital.
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the issue of new ordinary shares are recognized, net after tax, in 
shareholders’ equity as a deduction from the issue proceeds. 

1.14. Borrowing expenses.
Borrowing costs are recognized as expenses in the period in which they are 
incurred. The Group does not have any qualifying assets that would require 
borrowing expenses to be capitalized, i.e. assets that necessarily take a 
significant amount of time to complete for their intended use or sale. 

1.15. Cash flow statement.
The cash flow statement is prepared using the indirect method. The recognized 
cash flow only comprises transactions which result in payment inflows and 
outflows. 

1.16. Earnings per share.
Earnings per share before dilution. Earnings per share before dilution is 
calculated by dividing: 

profit attributable to the Parent Company’s shareholders with a weighted 
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period, adjusted 
for the bonus issue element of shares issued during the year and excluding 
repurchased shares held in treasury by the Parent Company. 

Earnings per share after dilution. 
When calculating earnings per share after dilution, amounts used for calculat-
ing earnings per share before dilution are adjusted by taking into account: 

the effect, after tax, of dividends and interest costs on potential shares, and 
the weighted average of the additional shares that would have been outstand-
ing on conversion of all potential shares.

Note 2. General information.
The company’s business is and trades as Brighter AB (publ) with corporate 
identity number 556736–8591. The company was founded in Sweden on 
July 5, 2007 and registered with the Swedish Companies Registration Office 
(Bolagsverket) on August 31, 2007. The company’s business is regulated by 
and its shares have been issued in accordance with the Swedish Companies 
Act (2005:551). The provisions in the Articles of Association are no more far-
reaching than stated in the Swedish Companies Act as regards amendment to 
the rights of shareholders. The Company’s identification code for legal entities 
(LEI) is 5299001CH8K0RXSYV047. 

Currently Brighter AB has three subsidiaries. Brighter One AB holds options 
as part of the external financing of the Company and the incentive scheme. 
Brighter AB has a subsidiary company in the UAE called Brighter Software 
Trading L.L.C. The company is co–owned with AFAQ, but is 100% controlled by 
Brighter AB. Brighter AB also has a wholly owned subsidiary, Pink Nectarine 
Health AB which in turn has two subsidiaries; one in the United Kingdom; 
Nectarine Health Solutions Limited and the other in the USA, Camanio Care 
Inc. Brighter is a purpose–driven Group comprising a number of companies 
and brands in the health technology sector. By introducing groundbreaking 
technology and new innovative services the objective of the Group at a global 
level is to help improve people’s health and lives as well as paving the way for 
more efficient and sustainable use of society’s resources. Besides the wholly 
owned and controlled subsidiaries.  The registered office of the Board of 
Directors is in the municipality of Stockholm, at Borgarfjordsgatan 18, SE–164 
40 Kista. Brighter AB is listed on the NASDAQ First North Growth Market (BRIG). 
Brighter’s Certified Adviser on the Nasdaq First North Growth Market is Man-
gold Fondkommission AB. +46 8 5277 5020, ca@mangold.se, www.mangold.se

For further information: www.brighter.se or ir@brighter.se. The figures in the 
annual report are reported in TSEK unless otherwise stated. The balance sheet 
and income statements will be presented at the Annual General Meeting on 
May 5, 2022.

Note 3. Important estimates and 
assumptions for accounting purposes. 
Estimate and assumptions are evaluated regularly based on historical experi-
ence and other factors, including expectations of future events which may be 
deemed reasonable under prevailing circumstances. 

The Group makes estimates and assumptions about the future. The estimates 
for accounting purposes that result from these will, by definition, rarely match 
the actual outcome. The estimates and assumptions that give rise to a material 
risk of significant adjustments of the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
during the following financial year are outlined below. 

Capitalized expenditure for development work.
The value of capitalized expenditure for development work is measured continu-
ously based on future benefit. Future benefit is assessed on the basis of known 
market conditions. The Group faces a commercialization phase regarding both 
Actiste and Actiste Mini along with Nectarine Health’s product range, and the 
development costs associated with this will start to be depreciated on an ongo-
ing basis based on estimated useful life. The depreciation period starts when 
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the asset is ready and the depreciation rate can adjust to changes in expected 
useful life. Depreciation of the Actiste asset has been adjusted in 2021 accord-
ing to expected useful life and will be fully written off by early–2024. 

Tax assets. 
As of December 31, 2021, the group had an estimated SEK 320 million in 
accumulated losses. There is no capitalization of loss carry–forwards as a 
receivable in the balance sheet as it is unclear when the group will be able to 
utilize such a claim. Taxes are reported in more detail in note 10.

Note 4. Other operating expenses 
and other operating income. 

OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES TSEK 2021 2020

Impairment of inventory 0 –13 958

Loss disposal of tangible assets 0 17

Exchange rate losses –1 924 –868

TOTAL –1 924 –14 809

OTHER OPERATING INCOME TSEK 2021 2020

Contributions received 675 149

Insurance claim 0 54

Exchange rate gain 1 526 668

Other operating income 251 0

TOTAL 2 453 871

Note 5. Leases.
Right of use assets 2021-12-31 2020-12-31

Properties 10 706 14 736

Vehicles 78 250

Total 10 784 14 986

Lease liabilities   

Non current 7 924 7 785

Current 4 057 5 205

Total 11 981 12 990

Depreciation of rights of use 2021 2020

Properties 4 382 2 059

Vehicles 108 46

Total 4 490 2 105

Note 6. Remuneration to employees, 
staff, the Board of Directors and 
transactions with affiliated parties.
SALARIES AND REMUNERATION TO EMPLOYEES 
SEK 2021 2020

Salaries and other remuneration 44 871 45 913

Social security costs 9 690 10 486

Pension costs – defined contribution plans 4 144 4 217

TOTAL 58 704 60 616

SALARIES AND REMUNERATION TO EMPLOYEES 
NO. 2021 2020

Women 17 18

Men 38 39

Average number of employees 55 57

GENDER BALANCE OF DIRECTORS AND OTHER SENIOR EXECUTIVES  
IN THE GROUP (AS OF BALANCE SHEET DATE)

2021 2020

 Totalt
Varav 
män Totalt

Varav 
män

Board members 6 6 4 2

Other senior executives* 6 4 10 5

CEO 1 1 1 1

13 11 15 8

*Other senior executives include the Head of Finance, Head of People & Culture, Head of Sales, 
Head of Medical Affairs, Head of Communications, and Head of Development. The period of 
notice is three months for senior executives who are employees. No severance pay is due over and 
above the period of notice. The CEO was also a member of the Board of Directors and is therefore 
included in the table in two places. 
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SALARIES, REMUNERATION AND FEES TO THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER,  
BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES

2021 TSEK
Basic salary, 

board fees
Invoiced 

fees
Pension 

costs Total

Chair of the Board of Directors, Erhardt Emilie 257

Member of the Board of Directors, Lindbergson Claes 100 0 0 100

Member of the Board of Directors, Al-Assaad Habib 220 0 0 220

Member of the Board of Directors, Sjöblom Nordgren Åsa 220 0 0 220

Member of the Board of Directors, O’Connor Karin 100 0 0 100

Chair of the Board of Directors/member, Trägårdh Christer 224 1 319 0 1 543

CEO, Lissner Erik 0 824 0 824

Other senior executives 4 487 1 755 803 7 045

TOTAL 5 607 3 898 803 10 308

2020 TSEK
Basic salary, 

board fees
Invoiced 

fees
Pension 

costs Total

Chair of the Board of Directors, Erhardt Emilie 108

Member of the Board of Directors, Al-Assaad Habib 63 0 0 63

Member of the Board of Directors, Anderssson Tove 53 172 0 225

Member of the Board of Directors, Flening Lars 50 0 0 50

Member of the Board of Directors, Ihre Catarina 50 0 0 50

Member of the Board of Directors, Lipsschutz Emanuel 53 44 0 97

Chair of the Board of Directors/member, Sjöstedt Truls 1 201 0 238 1 439

Member of the Board of Directors, Stålemark Jan 54 1 182 0 1 236

Member of the Board of Directors, Sjöblom Nordgren Åsa 0 0 0 0

CEO, Norström Henrik 1 847 0 766 2 613

Other senior executives 3 739 6 160 919 10 818

TOTAL 7 218 7 558 1 923 16 699

* The current Managing Director and current CFO were both active from August 2021. 

Invoiced fees and consulting fees for 2021 refer to CEO and HR positions.

Note 7. Auditor’s remuneration.
Group.
PWC TSEK 2021 2020

Auditing services 1 376 558

Other statutory services 18 0

Tax advice 255 53

Other services 115 480

TOTAL 1 764 1 091

Note 8. Financial income and costs.
TSEK 2021 2020

Interest income 1 700 4 048

Capital gain divestment of associated company 0 0

Total financial income 1 700 4 048

Interest expense –5 941 –2 224

Cost of capital 0 0

Impairment of receivables –20 159 –15 297

Total financial costs –26 100 –17 521

Net financial items –24 400 –13 473

Note 9. Earnings per share.
TSEK 2021 2020

Profit/loss for the period attributable to 
parent company shareholders. –234 593 –216 703

Number of shares at end of period  
before dilution 390 311 348 229 005 540

Number of shares at end of period  
after dilution 394 323 400 252 181 621

Weighted average number of shares  
before dilution 349 096 075 204 312 350

Earnings per share as a weighted average 
before dilution –0,67 –1,06

Earnings per share (SEK) as a weighted 
average after dilution –0,67 –1,06

*  The average number of shares has been recalculated in accordance with IAS 33 for the periods prior 
to completion of the share issue in 2021.
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Note 10. Reconciliation tax costs  
for the year.

                    Group                    Parent company

TSEK 2021 2020 2021 2020

Recognized profit/loss before tax –209 880 –220 507 –234 593 –216 703

Tax at the Swedish tax rate 20,6% (21,4%) 43 235 47 189 48 326 46 374

Tax effect of non-deductible costs 71 3 253 71 –10 762

Tax effect of non-taxable revenue 0 0 0 0

Tax effect of deductible non-expensed 
outgoings

–5 314 438 –5 314 438

Effect of loss deductions for which deferred  
tax claim is not recognized

–37 992 –50 880 –43 082 –36 049

Recognized tax cost for the year 0 0 0 0

Deductions for accumulated estimated loss carry–forwards as of December 31, 2021 were SEK 320 million for the group and SEK 345 million  
for the parent company.

Note 11. Intangible non current assets.
Parent company.

TSEK Trademarks Patents
Develop-

ment assets Total

Opening acquisition value 2020 523 6 230 149 864 156 617

Write downs 0 0 –2 350 –2 350

Acquisitions 177 1 262 27 254 28 693

Closing acquisition value 2020 700 7 492 174 768 182 960

Opening depreciation 2020 –169 –617 –21 288 –22 075

Depreciation –69 0 –47 491 –47 560

Closing depreciation 2020 –238 –617 –68 779 –69 635

Closing book value 2020 462 6 875 105 988 113 326

Opening acquisition value 2021 700 7 492 174 768 182 960

Write downs 0 0 0 0

Acquisitions 253 757 19 249 20 259

Closing acquisition value  2021 953 8 249 194 017 203 219

Opening depreciation 2021 –238 –617 –68 779 –69 635

Depreciation –95 0 –46 972 –47 067

Closing depreciation 2021 –333 –617 –115 751 –116 702

Closing book value 2021 620 7 632 78 266 86 518

Group.

TSEK Trademarks Patents
Develop-

ment assets Goodwill Total

Opening acquisition value 2020 523 6 327 167 751 10 005 184 606

Writedowns from sold operations   –6 366 2 –6 364

Writedowns 0 0 –2 350   –2 350

Acquisitions 177 1 262 80 007 0 81 446

Closing acquisition value  2020 700 7 589 239 042 10 007 257 338

Opening depreciation 2020 –169 –639 –25 121 0 –25 929

Depreciation from sold operations   –16 –1 963   –1 979

Depreciation –69 0 –49 650 0 –49 718

Closing depreciation 2020 –238 –655 –76 733 0 –77 626

Closing book value 2020 462 6 934 162 309 10 007 179 711

I Opening acquisition value 2021 700 7 589 239 042 10 007 257 338

Writedowns 0   0 0

Sale of subsidiary –97 –33 160 –10 007 –43 264

Acquisitions 253 757 50 895 0 51 904

Closing acquisition value  2021 953 8 249 256 777 0 265 979

Opening depreciation 2021 –238 –655 –76 733 0 –77 626

Sale of subsidiary 38 7 007 0 7 045

Depreciation from sold operations   –1 801 –1 801

Depreciation –95   –49 969   –50 064

Closing depreciation 2021 –333 –617 –121 496 0 –122 446

Closing book value 2021 620 7 632 135 281 0 143 533

Impairment testing.
In connection with the annual accounts, the company’s management has 
performed impairment tests for the company’s and the group’s intangible 
assets. The test is based on calculations of the value in use, where net sales, 
sales growth, discount rate and EBIT are the most important assumptions. 
The value in use is based on estimated future cash flows per each product’s 
estimated useful life based on the business plan for the year 2022 and the 
Group’s strategic plan. A discount rate between 25 and 40 percent has been 
used for the various intangible assets.

The recoverable amount exceeds the reported values for each intangible 
asset by a good margin. This also applies to assumptions that the discount 
rate before tax was five percentage points higher or that net sales were ten 
percent lower.
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Note 12. Property, plant and equipment.
Parent company.

TSEK
Construction  
in progress

Office 
equipment Total

Opening acquisition value 2020 12 831 260 13 091

Divestitures 0 –31 –31

Acquisitions –12 831 21 622 8 791

Accumulated acquisition values  2020 0 21 851 21 851

Opening depreciation 2020 0 –129 –129

Divestitures 0 15 15

Acquisitions 0 –3 026 –3 026

Closing depreciation 2020 0 –3 140 –3 140

Closing book value 2020 0 18 712 18 712

Opening acquisition value 2021 0 21 851 21 851

Divestitures 0 0 0

Acquisitions 0 23 23

Accumulated acquisition values  2021 0 21 874 21 874

Opening depreciation 2021 0 –3 140 –3 140

Divestitures 0 0 0

Acquisitions 0 –3 807 –3 807

Closing depreciation 2021 0 –6 947 –6 947

Closing book value 2021 0 14 927 14 927

Group.

TSEK
Construction  
in progress

Office 
equipment

Asset with  
right of use Total

Opening acquisition value 2020 12 831 1 998 2 570 17 399

Divestitures 0 –31 0 –31

Acquisitions –12 831 22 202 16 199 25 570

Accumulated acquisition values  2020 0 24 169 18 769 42 938

Opening depreciation 2020 0 –665 –264 –929

Divestitures 0 15 0 15

Depreciation attributable to sold company 0 –265 –1 414 –1 679

Depreciation attributable to sold company 0 –3 283 –2 105 –5 388

Closing depreciation 2020 0 –4 198 –3 783 –7 981

Closing book value 2020 0 19 971 14 986 34 957

Opening acquisition value 2021 0 24 169 18 769 42 938

Divestitures 0 –16 0 –16

Sale of subsidiary 0 –1 762 –3 495 –5 257

Acquisitions 0 45 0 45

Accumulated acquisition values 2021 0 22 436 15 274 37 710

Opening depreciation 2021 0 –4 198 –3 783 –7 981

Divestitures 0 16 0 16

Sale of subsidiary 0 1 054 2 308 3 363

Depreciation attributable to sold company 0 –230 –630 –860

Depreciation  0 –4 019 –2 385 –6 405

Closing depreciation 2021 0 –7 376 –4 490 –11 866

Closing book value 2021 0 15 060 10 784 25 843

Note 13. Inventories.
TSEK 2021 2020

Finished products are recognized at cost value 26 278 9 035

TOTAL 26 278 9 035
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Note 14. Accounts receivable.
Parent company.
TSEK Dec 31 2021 Dec 31 2020

Accounts receivable from associated 
companies 0 0

Provision for doubtful receivables 0 0

TOTAL 0 0

Group.
TSEK Dec 31 2021 Dec 31 2020

Accounts receivable 409 2 524

Provision for doubtful receivables 0 0

TOTAL 409 2 524

Group Dec 31 2021 Dec 31 2020

>30 days 0 7

>60 days 3 29

TOTAL NUMBER 3 36

Note 15. Other current receivables.
Parent company.
TSEK Dec 31 2021 Dec 31 2020

Receivables Sanmina work in progress 41 383 39 323

Financial investment against interest 0 29 573

Other current receivables 405 10 894

TOTAL 41 788 79 790

Group.
TSEK Dec 31 2021 Dec 31 2020

Receivables Sanmina work in progress 41 383 39 323

Financial investment against interest 0 29 573

Other current receivables 1 255 10 944

TOTAL 42 639 79 840

Note 16. Financial instruments 
by category.

2021 2020

FINANCIAL ASSETS TSEK
Loans and 

receivables
Loans and 

receivables

Financial assets were valued at fair value 
via income statement 965 9 969

Assets recognized at  
accrued acquisition cost    

Account receivable 409 2 524

Deposit agreement cooperation and rents 1 647 1 647

Financial investment against interest 0 29 573

Cash and cash equivalents 26 896 7 276

TOTAL 29 917 50 989

2021 2020

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES TSEK
Other financial 

liabilities
Other financial 

liabilities

Non-current interest-bearing liabilities 6 571 8 548

Accounts payable 8 273 27 664

Short-term interest-bearing liabilities 31 609 32 816

TOTAL 46 453 69 028

Note 17. Prepaid costs.
TSEK 2021 2020

Tax assets 0 3 586

Claw-back from the acquisition  
of Pink Nectarine Health AB 0 2 452

Accrued interest income 0 2 860

Other receivables 536 1 474

TOTAL 536 10 372

Note 18. Cash and cash equivalents.
Cash and cash equivalents consist of capital in bank accounts in  
Swedish krona.
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Note 19. Financial risk management.

Foreign exchange risks related to transaction  
and translation exposure.
There is a foreign exchange risk as changes in the exchange rate can affect the 
Company’s results and equity. There is exposure to foreign exchange from cash 
flows in a different currency to the Company’s working currency, i.e. Swedish 
krona (transaction exposure). At the moment the group’s currency exposure 
relates primarily to purchases from suppliers in EUR, USD and AED. Negative 
exchange rate fluctuations in EUR, USD or AED could therefore have an impact 
on the company’s earning capacity, earnings and financial position. 

Credit risk. 
When Brighter sells its products to its customers, there is a risk that it will not 
receive payment. These credit risks could result in an adverse impact on the 
Company’s operations, results and financial position. Brighter intends to cover 
such risks as far as possible using bank guarantees or insurance solutions. 

Liquidity risk. 
A liquidity risk is the risk that Brighter will not be able to fulfill its financial 
obligations or will be less able to conduct its operations effectively due to a 
shortage of cash and cash equivalents. Brighter’s liquidity is affected, inter 
alia, by payment terms and conditions for credit to customers and credit from 
suppliers. It can also be affected by the ability to raise external financing 
through a new issue or loan, as well as the ability to finance customer agree-
ments and customer orders. It cannot be ruled out that the Company could 
have a shortage of cash and cash equivalents as a result of unknown events, 
which in turn could have an adverse impact on the Company’s operations, 
results and financial position. 

2020

CONTRACTUAL MATURITY 
FOR FINANCIAL LIABILITIES  
TSEK

Less than  
6 months 6–12 months

More than  
12 months

Total contractual  
cash flows

Carrying 
amount

Account Payable 27 664 0 0 27 664 27 664

Leased liabilities 3 027 3 027 8 548 15 934 14 602

Loans 26 506 256 0 26 762 26 762

TOTAL 57 197 3 283 8 548 70 360 69 027

2021

CONTRACTUAL MATURITY 
FOR FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 
TSEK

Less than  
6 months 6–12 months

More than  
12 months

Total contractual  
cash flows

Carrying 
amount

Account Payable 8 273 0 0 8 273 8 273

Leased liabilities 2 029 2 029 7 924 11 981 11 981

Loans 27 173 0 0 27 173 27 173

TOTAL 37 475 2 029 7 924 47 427 47 427

Note 20. Changes in share capital.

Change Change in amounts Total after change Registration date
Number of 

outstanding shares

Rights issue 1 904 787,75 19 515 567,42 2021-09-03 390 311 348

Rights issue 244 858,00 17 610 779,67 2021-07-21 352 215 593

Rights issue 5 915 644,67 17 365 921,67 2021-03-31 347 318 433

Opening balance 2021 TOTAL 11 450 277,00 TOTAL 229 005 540

Note 21. Shares and share ownership.

Parent company and group.
The share capital in Brighter AB consists of 390,311,348 shares. All shares are 
of the same class, entitled to one vote per share and entitled to the same share 
in the Company’s assets and profit. The quotient value of the share is 0.05 SEK 
per share. All shares are fully paid and no shares are reserved for transfer. No 
shares are held by the company itself or its subsidiaries. The company has 
over 16,000 registered shareholders (including trustees).

  Name Number  
of shares Voting share

1 Försäkringsaktiebolaget Avanza Pension 38 298 560 9,81%

2 NA gruppen AB 6 700 000 1,72%

3 Solokvist AB 5 443 451 1,39%

4 Swedbank Försäkring 4 655 676 1,19%

5 Wael Smith AB 4 456 700 1,14%

6 Nordnet Pensionsförsäkring AB 4 279 571 1,10%

7 Thore Andre Nordbö 4 000 000 1,02%

8 Truls Sjöstedt 3 742 003 0,96%

9 Ålandsbanken in the name of owner 3 069 159 0,79%

10 Ålandsbanken AB, W8iMY 2 907 185 0,74%

77 552 305 19,87%

Other shareholders 312 759 043 80,13%

Total number of outstanding shares  
as of 31-12-2021 390 311 348

Warrants
Subscription 

price Subscription period
Number of outstanding 

options subscribed

Share warrants in series TO5 6,20 SEK See note 24 3 922 052

Total number of outstanding options 2021-12-31: 3 922 052

* The share price has not been converted for the rights issues in February 2022.

Brighter has issued warrants as part of the financing contract. Warrants have 
also been issued to key personnel and acquisitions have then been at the 
corresponding market value. On December 31, 2021 there were 3,922,052 
warrants issued and subscribed that had not been exercised to subscribe for 
shares. An option confers the right to subscribe for one new share at a specific 
share price on a specific subscription date.
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Note 22. Discontinued operations. 
On December 1, 2021, the Board of Directors decided to sell all shares in 
the wholly owned subsidiary Camanio AB. The effective sale on December 1, 
2021, is reported in the current period as a discontinued operation. Camanio 
AB develops digital solutions for care primarily aimed at the elderly in their 
home or at retirement homes. The company offers digital service platforms 
in healthcare, robotics, digital tools and smart technology. This decision was 
taken in line with the Company’s objective is to streamline its operations to 
focus on Brighter’s core business of data-driven and connected diabetes care. 
Revenue and expenses, and gains and losses relating to the discontinuation of 
this segment have been removed from the results of continuing operations and 
are shown as a single line item on the face of the statement of  comprehensive 
income (“Net result from discontinued operations”) in accordance with IFRS 5.  
The operating results of the discontinued operation up to its disposal and the 
effect of remeasurement and disposal of assets that were classified as held for 
sale were as follows:

TSEK Jan–Dec 2021 Jan–Dec 2020

Sales 5 265 10 865

Capitalized expenditure for  
development work 11 369 9 371

Other operating income 287 915

Total 16 921 21 151

Raw materials and consumables –4 989 –5 611

Other external costs –13 391 –15 276

Staff costs –13 783 –13 845

Depreciation and amortization –2 661 –9 939

Other operating costs –131 –22

Operating results –18 034 –23 542

Other financial income 3 011 14

Financial costs –3 468 –117

Financial items –458 –103

Results from discontinued operations 
before tax –18 492 –23 645

Tax 0 0

Operating results from discontinued 
operations –18 492 –23 645

Profit/loss on re-evaluation  0 0

Profit/loss on disposal 17 931  0

Tax liabilities 0 0

Netprofit/loss from discontinued 
operations –561 –23 645

Base results (loss) per share (SEK) 0,00 0,00

Diluted earnings (loss) per share (SEK) 0,00 0,00

The loss from the discontinued operation of -561 TSEK (-23 645 TSEK) is attributable entirely to  
the owners of the Company.

Cash flow from discontinued operations.
TSEK Jan–Dec 2021 Jan–Dec 2020

Operating results –18 034 –23 542

Adjustment for items not included in  
the cash flow 6 873 9 939

Interest received 3 011 14

Interest paid –3 468 –117

Cash flow from operating activities before 
change in working capital –11 618 –13 706

Increase/decrease in inventories 432 251

Increase/decrease in operating receivables 1 173 -1 798

Increase/decrease in operating liabilities –5 231 162

Increase/decrease in short-term liabilities 0 0

Total changes in working capital –3 626 –1 385

Cash flow from operating activities –15 244 –15 091

Investments in intangible assets –10 879 –12 944

Investments in property plant and equipment 0 754

Cash flow from investing activities –10 879 –12 190

New share issues and warrants 0 0

New share issue costs 0 0

Amortization of debts and loans received/paid 0 0

Increase/decrease short-term financial liabilities 21 261 30 404

Cash flow from financing activities 21 261 30 404

Cash flow from discontinued operations –4 862 3 123

Opening cash and cash equivalents 4 217 1 094

Closing cash and cash equivalents –645 4 217
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Note 23. Segment information.
Operating segments are reported in a way that corresponds to internal 
reporting to the highest executive decision–maker. The Brighter CEO is identified 
as the highest executive decision–maker who assesses the group’s financial 
position and earnings and takes strategic decisions. The Group consists of the 
segments Brighter and Nectarine Health. Brighter develops mobile healthcare 
solutions that support treatment, obtain reliable data and enable communica-
tion between patients, relatives and care providers. The offer originally focused 
on diabetes. Nectarine Health develops artificial intelligence solutions for the 
care of the elderly at home or in nursing homes. The initial offering, in the form 
of an armband, was focused on detecting falls and creating a secure and yet 
independent life for the elderly individual.

Segment assets and liabilities.
Segment assets and liabilities are reported in the same way as in the financial 
statements. Assets and liabilities are allocated based on the segment business 
activities.

SALES FROM CUSTOMERS  
PER SEGMENT TSEK 2021 2020

Segment  

Brighter 2 10

Nectarine 1 264 1 655

Eliminering 0 0

Total sales from customer 1 266 1 665

PROFIT/LOSS BEFORE TAX  
PER SEGMENT TSEK 2021 2020

Segment  

Brighter –238 951 –206 644

Nectarine –34 000 –31 563

Eliminering 63 071 17 700

Total results before tax –209 880 –220 507

ASSETS PER SEGMENT TSEK 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

Segment  

Brighter 268 180 356 038

Camanio 0 39 628

Nectarine 62 470 44 966

Eliminering –61 905 –101 716

Total assets 268 745 338 917

LIABILITIES PER SEGMENT TSEK 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

Segment  

Brighter 51 558 63 417

Camanio 0 10 980

Nectarine 62 633 50 516

Eliminering –52 000 –38 020

Total liabilities 62 191 86 894

Note 24. Borrowings and net debt.
TSEK 31 Dec 2021 31 Dec 2020

Long-term    

Liabilities related to long-term loans 6 571 8 548

Short-term    

Liabilities related to short-term loans 31 609 32 816

Total 38 180 41 363

Cash and cash equivalents 26 896 7 276

Net debt interest-bearing liabilities 11 284 34 087

Equity 206 553 252 023

Debt to equity-ratio 5,46% 13,53%

Warrants TO5.
In May 2019 the Company entered into a three–year agreement regarding a 
credit facility of up to EUR 15 million with the American investment company 
Winance Investment LLC, as a result of which an initial partial payment of 
EUR 3 million was arranged. Brighter has no remaining liability to Winance and 
concluded its partnership with Winance in November 2019.

As part of its agreement, Brighter undertook to issue warrants TO5 free of 
charge to both Winance and to other shareholders. These warrants have a four 
year maturity, with a strike price corresponding to 115 percent of the VWAP for 
the 15 days preceding the issue decision. After the recalculation in connection 
with the preferential rights issue in January 2020 and February 2021, each 
warrant gives the right to subscribe to 1.70 shares at SEK 6.20 per share.

The remaining exercise periods for warrants relating to the Warrant Program 
TO5 are as follows:

23 May – June 6, 2022. 

21 November – 5 December, 2022.

23 May – 5 June, 2023. 
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Note 25. Items not affecting cash flow.
Group.
TSEK 2021 2020

Depreciation/write-off of intangible  
and tangible assets –51 807 –57 536

Write-off of inventory 0 –4 619

Capital gain on asset 0 –17

Exchange rate losses 453 –244

TOTAL –51 354 –62 416

Parent company.
TSEK 2021 2020

Depreciation/write-off of intangible and 
tangible assets –50 874 –62 704

Write-off of inventory 0 0

Capital gain on asset 0 0

Exchange rate losses 0 0

TOTAL –50 874 –62 704

The cash flow for 2020 has been adjusted compared with the annual report for 
2020 due to discontinued operations.

Note 26. Changes to liabilities 
in financing activities.
TSEK 2021 2020

Opening financial liabilities 41 363 12 223

Cash flow related to loans raised 923 16 000

Amortization –3 015 0

Cash flow related to lease liabilities –4 690 5 402

Changes to items not affecting cash flow 0 7 738

Interest on leased liabilities 448 0

Closing liabilities on sale of subsidiaries –659 0

Closing leased liabilities on sale  
of subsidiaries –1 817 0

Upcoming leasing liabilities 6 550 0

TOTALT 39 103 41 363

Note 27. Financial key figures.
Definition of key figures. 
Net turnover  Sales to external customers 

Operating profit/loss Profit/loss before financial items 

Profit/loss for the period  Profit/loss after financial items 

Shareholders’ equity per share  Shareholders’ equity via the number of 
outstanding shares before dilution 

Operating margin %  Total income through operating profit 

Equity ratio %  S hareholders’ equity via balance sheet 
total 

Debt to equity ratio   Interest–bearing liabilities in relation to 
shareholders’ equity 

Net debt   Interest–bearing liabilities less interest–
bearing assets and cash and cash 
equivalents 

Working capital  All current assets minus current liabilities 

Net financial items  Financial income minus financial costs 

Balance sheet total  Total assets on balance sheet 

Other external costs   All costs included in operating profit/loss, 
except for costs of goods sold, personnel 
costs and depreciation and share of 
earnings from associated companies. 

Current ratio  Current assets/current liabilities

Note 28. Accrued costs and 
prepaid revenues.
TSEK 2021 2020

Deferred income 960 5 071

Accrued holiday pay 2 850 4 146

Accrued social insurance charges 1 008 1 273

Accrued salary taxes pension 2 006 1 265

Accrued interest costs 340 1 188

Accrued accounts payable 0 1 673

Other interim liabilities 4 919 276

TOTAL 12 082 14 892
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Note 29. Transactions with closely 
related parties.
Transactions with affiliated parties in the form of remuneration, in addition to 
the Board fee, were carried out with the following Board members. From Janu-
ary 1 to June 30 Christer Trägårdh received SEK 1,294,600 commercial basis 
for consultancy services and SEK 24,732 for travel costs as Acting CEO. The 
amounts are exclusive of VAT. All transactions are carried out on a commercial 
basis.

From August 16 – December 31, Erik Lissner received SEK 823,552 in his role as 
acting CEO.

Note 30. Parent Company interests 
in group companies.
Parent Company, Brighter AB, owns 100% of the shares and voting rights in its 
subsidiary Brighter One AB, corporate identity number 556971–7274, with its 
registered office in Stockholm and address c/o Brighter AB, Borgarfjordsgatan 
18, 164 40 Kista. The sole role of the company is to hold options for distribution 
within the parameters of resolved incentive programs or in association with 
external financing. The shares have a book value of SEK 50,000.

Parent company Brighter AB owns 49% of the shares and 100% of the voting 
rights in subsidiary company Brighter Software Trading L.L.C. with registered 
address in Dubai, UAE. The company is tasked with the sales and distribution 
of Actiste in UAE and the rest of the GCC region. The shares have a book value 
of SEK 738,840.

Parent company Brighter AB owns 91% of the shares and voting rights in Pink 
Nectarine Health AB, corporate identity number 559233–9740 and address 
Munkbron 11, 111 28 Stockholm. The other shareholders are company employ-
ees who bought shares as part of an incentive scheme. Pink Nectarine Health 
AB has two wholly–owned subsidiaries; Nectarine Health Solutions Limited in 
the UK and Camanio Care Inc in the USA. Pink Nectarine Health AB and its 
subsidiaries develop digital solutions for safety and security, aimed at elderly 
individuals living at home or in care homes for the elderly. The company sup-
plies an armband with AI functionality that detects falls among other things.

TSEK 2021 2020

Shares in Brighter One 50 50

Shares in Camanio AB 0 53 532

Shares in Brighter software trading, UAE 739 739

Shares in Nectarine 9 905 15 719

TOTAL 10 693 70 040

Note 31. Pledged collateral.
TSEK 2021 2020

Pledged collateral 62 574 0

The assets in the subsidiary refer to 62 MSEK which is the stated at book value 
of the shares in the parent company.
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Certification.
Stockholm, April 12, 2022. 
Brighter AB (publ).

The Board of Directors and CEO affirm that the consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU and provide a true picture of the Group’s 
position and results. The annual report has been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles 
and provide a true picture of the Parent Company’s position and results. 

The management report for the group and parent company gives a true and fair view of the company’s and the group’s 
operations, financial position and earnings, and describes significant risks and uncertainties faced by the parent 
company and the companies in the group.

Christer Trägårdh 
Chair of the Board of Directors

Habib Al Assaad 
Member of the Board of Directors

Åsa Sjöblom Nordgren 
Member of the Board of Directors

Karin O’Connor 
Member of the Board of Directors

Clas Lindbergson 
Member of the Board of Directors

Erik Lissner 
Interim CEO

Our auditors report was submitted on April 13, 2022. 

Öhrlings PricewaterhouseCoopers AB

Magnus Lagerberg

Authorized Public Accountant

 

 

Auditor’s report 
Unofficial translation 

To the general meeting of the shareholders of Brighter AB (publ), corporate identity number 556736-8591 

Report on the annual accounts and consolidated accounts 
Opinions 
We have audited the annual accounts and consolidated accounts of Brighter AB (publ) for the year 2021. The 
annual accounts and consolidated accounts of the company are included on pages 33-78 in this document. 

In our opinion, the annual accounts have been prepared in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act and present 
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of parent company and the group as of 31 December 2021 
and its financial performance and cash flow for the year then ended in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act. 
The consolidated accounts have been prepared in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act and present fairly, in 
all material respects, the financial position of the group as of 31 December 2021 and their financial performance 
and cash flow for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as 
adopted by the EU, and the Annual Accounts Act. The statutory administration report is consistent with the other 
parts of the annual accounts and consolidated accounts. 

We therefore recommend that the general meeting of shareholders adopts the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income and consolidated statement of financial position for the group and the income statement 
and balance sheet for the parent company. 

Basis for Opinions 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA) and generally accepted 
auditing standards in Sweden. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities section. We are independent of the parent company and the group in accordance with 
professional ethics for accountants in Sweden and have otherwise fulfilled our ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinions. 

Other Information than the annual accounts and consolidated accounts 
This document also contains other information than the annual accounts and consolidated accounts and is found 
on pages 1-32. The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are responsible for this other information. 

Our opinion on the annual accounts and consolidated accounts does not cover this other information and we do 
not express any form of assurance conclusion regarding this other information. 

In connection with our audit of the annual accounts and consolidated accounts, our responsibility is to read the 
information identified above and consider whether the information is materially inconsistent with the annual 
accounts and consolidated accounts. In this procedure we also take into account our knowledge otherwise 
obtained in the audit and assess whether the information otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If we, based on the work performed concerning this information, conclude that there is a material misstatement of 
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Emphasis of matter 
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Without qualifying our opinion above, we would like to draw attention to the Board of Directors' report and the 

Board's description of capital requirements under the heading “Financing”. It states that the Group has been 

provided with capital during both 2021 and during the first quarter of 2022, but that additional capital will be 

required to complete the company's plan for commercialization.  

It is further stated that the Board assesses that the liquidity that is expected from the warrants that will be able to 

be subscribed for in June 2022 in combination with the company finding alternative sources of financing for the 

subsidiary Pink Nectarine Health AB will ensure that the financing of the business is secured for at least 12 

months ahead. In addition, it is stated that the board and management continuously work with and evaluate 

additional financing alternatives. 

We would like to emphasize the importance of ensuring that financing can be secured in one of the ways that the 

Board has evaluated and considers probable 

Responsibilities of the Board of Director's and the Managing Director 
The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are responsible for the preparation of the annual accounts and 

consolidated accounts and that they give a fair presentation in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act and, 

concerning the consolidated accounts, in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU. The Board of Directors 

and the Managing Director are also responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable 

the preparation of annual accounts and consolidated accounts that are free from material misstatement, whether 

due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the annual accounts and consolidated accounts, The Board of Directors and the Managing Director 

are responsible for the assessment of the company's and the group's ability to continue as a going concern. They 

disclose, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting. The 

going concern basis of accounting is however not applied if the Board of Directors and the Managing Director 

intend to liquidate the company, to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibility 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the annual accounts and consolidated accounts 

as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 

includes our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 

conducted in accordance with ISAs and generally accepted auditing standards in Sweden will always detect a 

material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 

individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 

taken on the basis of these annual accounts and consolidated accounts. 

A further description of our responsibility for the audit of the annual accounts and consolidated accounts is 

available on Revisorsinspektionen’s website: www.revisorsinspektionen.se/revisornsansvar. This description is 

part of the auditor´s report. 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 
Opinions 
In addition to our audit of the annual accounts and consolidated accounts, we have also audited the 

administration of the Board of Director's and the Managing Director of Brighter AB (publ) for the year 2021 and the 

proposed appropriations of the company’s profit or loss. 

We recommend to the general meeting of shareholders that the profit be appropriated in accordance with the 

proposal in the statutory administration report and that the members of the Board of Director's and the Managing 

Director be discharged from liability for the financial year. 

Basis for Opinions 
We conducted the audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards in Sweden. Our responsibilities 

under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities section. We are independent of the 

parent company and the group in accordance with professional ethics for accountants in Sweden and have 

otherwise fulfilled our ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 

opinions. 

 

 

Responsibilities of the Board of Director's and the Managing Director 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the proposal for appropriations of the company’s profit or loss. At the 

proposal of a dividend, this includes an assessment of whether the dividend is justifiable considering the 

requirements which the company's and the group's type of operations, size and risks place on the size of the 

parent company's and the group’ equity, consolidation requirements, liquidity and position in general. 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the company’s organization and the administration of the company’s 

affairs. This includes among other things continuous assessment of the company's and the group's financial 

situation and ensuring that the company´s organization is designed so that the accounting, management of assets 

and the company’s financial affairs otherwise are controlled in a reassuring manner. The Managing Director shall 

manage the ongoing administration according to the Board of Directors’ guidelines and instructions and among 

other matters take measures that are necessary to fulfill the company’s accounting in accordance with law and 

handle the management of assets in a reassuring manner. 

Auditor’s responsibility 
Our objective concerning the audit of the administration, and thereby our opinion about discharge from liability, is 

to obtain audit evidence to assess with a reasonable degree of assurance whether any member of the Board of 

Directors or the Managing Director in any material respect: 

• has undertaken any action or been guilty of any omission which can give rise to liability to the company, or 

• in any other way has acted in contravention of the Companies Act, the Annual Accounts Act or the Articles of 

Association. 

Our objective concerning the audit of the proposed appropriations of the company’s profit or loss, and thereby our 

opinion about this, is to assess with reasonable degree of assurance whether the proposal is in accordance with 

the Companies Act. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 

with generally accepted auditing standards in Sweden will always detect actions or omissions that can give rise to 

liability to the company, or that the proposed appropriations of the company’s profit or loss are not in accordance 

with the Companies Act. 

A further description of our responsibility for the audit of the administration is available on Revisorsinspektionen’s 

website: www.revisorsinspektionen.se/revisornsansvar. This description is part of the auditor’s report. 

Remark 

Stockholm 13 April 2022 

Öhrlings PricewaterhouseCoopers AB 

Magnus Lagerberg 

Authorized Public Accountant 
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Brighter AB (publ), 556736-8591.

Borgarfjordsgatan 18 
164 40 Kista

www.brighter.se

This version of the Annual Report in English is an informal translation solely  
for convenience purposes. In case of inconsistencies between the Swedish and 

the English text, the Swedish text in the Annual Report shall prevail.
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